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2007 CASES
Skiing, Slipping, Tripping, Falling and Local Safety Standards

The following is a (reasonably representative) sample of some recent cases in which Judges (at first instance) have applied Wilson v Best Travel Limited [1993] 1 All ER 353 (QBD), Codd v Thomson Holidays Limited [2000] (CA) and First Choice Holidays & Flights Limited v Holden [2006] May (QBD) and have found for the Defendant because the Claimant has failed to lead evidence that there was a breach of duty.

Platt v Travel World Vacations Limited [2007] 19 July, District Judge O’Leary (Chester CC)

This matter arose out of an accident took place on 18 July 2003 at a time when the Claimant and her partner were on a package holiday to Malia, Crete, Greece. The holiday commenced on 11 July 2003. The Claimant and her partner stayed at the Stelios Apartments, Malia and this was where the accident was alleged to have occurred (in the Claimant’s room). The Defendant was the tour operator for the Claimant’s package holiday. The facts, as alleged, were rather unusual. The Claimant’s pleaded account of the accident was as follows:

“On or about the morning of the 18th July 2003, the Claimant was asleep in her apartment. She was woken by a cleaner employed by the owners and managers of the apartment. The cleaner advised the Claimant, through a third person who spoke Greek and English, that she wanted the Claimant to get out of bed so that she could clean the apartment. The Claimant did so but as she walked around the end of the bed she slipped and fell on a wet area of floor. Apparently the cleaner had washed part of the floor while the Claimant was asleep, leaving it wet, but had not advised the Claimant of the fact.”

The alleged circumstances of the accident were made more curious by the following:

a. the Claimant was naked in bed with her partner at the time that the cleaner entered the room and then pestered her to get up;

b. the Claimant alleged that she got out of bed naked (wrapping a sheet around her waist – she accepted in cross-examination that this left her top half exposed);

c. The Claimant’s partner, alleged that he also got out of bed – it was his evidence that he was completely naked;

d. There was no contemporaneous record of the incident – the Defendant’s practice was for guests making reports of accidents/injuries to complete an accident form given to them by the local representative.

The Defendant’s case was that its cleaner had no recollection of this incident and, therefore, it was unlikely to have taken place (or, at least, was unlikely to have taken place as alleged by the Claimant). The cleaner, a 61 year old Greek lady who spoke no English, stated (not unreasonably, one might think), “I am surprised by the alleged circumstances of the accident because I would never enter a guest’s room to start cleaning where a guest was still asleep. I am aware that the Claimant states that she was asleep in bed with her boyfriend when I was allegedly cleaning her room. This is definitely not the case as I would never clean while people were asleep, or in their room and certainly not if a couple were in bed. I would find this very embarrassing.”

The studios were sufficiently small for it to be quite obvious to the cleaner if someone was lying in bed (it would be equally obvious to the person lying in bed that the cleaner was in the room). 

The Claimant’s allegations of breach of duty were as follows:

a. Causing or permitting the floor to be washed while the Claimant was in the apartment;

b. Failing to dry the floor;

c. Asking the Claimant to leave her bed while the floor was wet and slippery;

d. Failing to warn the Claimant that the floor was wet.

The Defence denied that the cleaner entered the room without the Claimant’s permission. Breach of contract was denied and the Defendant pleaded a positive case that:

a. the index room was so small that it was impossible for the Claimant and cleaner to be unaware of each other’s presence;

b. the cleaner would not enter a room without permission and/or while a guest was still in bed;

c. that if guests are sleeping then the apartment  owner’s daughter will ask the guests for permission to enter the room.

Judgment was reserved. The Judge dismissed the claim on the basis that she accepted the evidence of the cleaner (which was given via an interpreter by live video link) and rejected the evidence of the Claimant and her witnesses. However, even if the Claimant’s evidence had been accepted, the Judge held that the Claimant, having failed to adduce evidence of what the local safety standard required (did the wet mopping of the floor make the same unacceptably slippery in any event?), would have failed to establish liability even if her factual evidence had been accepted.

Davina Hammond v Hotelplan Limited [2007] 9 November, District Judge Jackson (Canterbury CC) Multi track

This Multi Track matter arose out of a skiing accident which took place on 13 January 2004. The Claimant was on a package holiday to Bulgaria at the time and the Defendant was the tour operator. The Claimant’s case was that she was descending a slope graded red and was unable to stop. She fell and alleged that her right ski failed to detach from her boot. The Claimant sustained a right anterior cruciate ligament rupture and a right medial collateral ligament injury: classic skiing injuries.

The Claimant commenced proceedings against the Defendant tour operator. Her Particulars of Claim relied on causes of action in contract pleaded by reference to Regulation 15 of the Package Travel etc. Regulations 1992. There were, essentially, three headline allegations of negligence:

a. that there was a failure to offer any or any sufficient and suitable supervision or instruction;

b. that the slope on which the Claimant was skiing at the material time was unsafe and unsuitable for her;

c. that there was a failure to provide suitable and safe equipment in that the bindings for the Claimant’s skis were defective and failed to release.

The Defendant obtained permission to rely on an expert’s report from a Dr Tabar: a consulting engineer whose report dealt primarily, if not exclusively, with the Claimant’s allegations with respect to her equipment.

The Claimant was the only witness who gave oral evidence at trial. The Defendant relied on statements from two witnesses whose statements were served under cover of Civil Evidence Act hearsay notices: the ski instructor responsible for the Claimant’s class and the Managing Director of the ski school and ski equipment supplier used by the Claimant. Dr Tabar’s report was read at trial. 

The Claimant’s holiday was booked on or before 30 August 2003. She travelled with a group of 5 other persons. It was accepted that the booking provided, among other things, for a learn to ski package. The Claimant arrived in resort (Borovets, Bulgaria) on 10 January 2004. The ski package included skiing tuition and ski hire and, in this regard, the Claimant was provided with vouchers to exchange for skis, boots and bindings. On 11 January 2004 the Claimant was provided with equipment and made her way to the nursery slopes with her class. Her evidence was that she skied on 11 January and 12 January. She estimated that she skied between 9 am and 12 pm and then 1 pm and 3pm on 11 January 2004 and at similar times on 12 January 2004 (completing 4 or 5 runs on 11 January and 10 runs on 12 January 2004). The Claimant stated that the nursery slopes which were open to the public were quite busy and that the crowding limited the amount of skiing which could be completed (especially on the first full day of skiing).

On 13 January 2004 the Claimant and her class were taken by their instructor by chairlift to a different slope. The Claimant’s own evidence is that she made one run down the slope on the morning of 13 January 2004. The group stopped for lunch and, at 1 pm, returned to the chairlift. The Claimant’s case was that she was reluctant to make another run down the same slope, but was “cajoled” into doing so by the instructor. Her case was that he pushed her down the slope. The Claimant stated that she undertook two turns from the point where she alleged that she was pushed to the point where she fell. She further stated that she was traversing the slope with her left side to the slope and that, “While traversing, I hit ice which caused me to lose control and head down the mountain gaining speed, I only remember falling and tumbling numerous times.” 

The claim was dismissed. The Judge did not make any firm finding whether the Claimant was pushed (as she alleged) or was given physical encouragement to descend the slope (as was suggested to her in cross-examination). In any event, he was unpersuaded that the push had any causative significance (given that the Claimant fell after completing two turns and after she had slipped on a patch of ice). The Claimant’s case failed because she had adduced no evidence that the run that she was descending at the time of the accident was unsuitable for someone of her competence. The Judge found the following passage from Gallagher v Airtours Holidays Limited [2000] CLY 4280 (HHJ Appleton) to be persuasive:

Kevin Kinsey v TUI UK Limited [2007] 13 November, District Judge (Pontypridd CC)

The Claimant was on a package holiday to Ibiza at the time of the accident and the Defendant was the tour operator. The Claimant’s case was that, at the material time, he was a participant in a game of water basketball in a swimming pool at the Hotel where he was staying: the Hotel Presidente. The Claimant’s pleaded case was that towards the end of the game there was an incident involving about 4 – 5 participants. The Claimant jumped to catch the ball, but, as he did this, he was struck in the face by the elbow of another participant. The Claimant sustained relatively modest injuries as a result. 

The Claimant commenced proceedings against the Defendant tour operator. His Particulars of Claim made three headline allegations of negligence which centred on the allegation that the Defendant’s representatives failed to supervise the game:

d. they were too far away to supervise adequately;

e. they failed to take any steps to ensure that the participants in the game adhered to the rules;

f. they failed to penalise those who failed to adhere to the rules. 

The Defendant’s case was that there was supervision by two local representatives who refereed the game using a whistle and were close enough to the action to be able to penalise players who misbehaved.

The Judge dismissed the claim. There was no evidence that the standard of supervision was inadequate (again, Holden was applied). Indeed, the Judge held that such supervision as there was, was more than adequate. It was difficult to see what else the Defendant could have done to supervise the match. In any event, there was no evidence of a causative breach of duty; the Claimant could not prove that closer supervision would have prevented an accident which occurred during the course of play.

Greenwood v My Travel UK Limited 
This matter arose out of an accident which took place during the early hours of the morning on 21 July 2001. The Claimant was aged 15 years (nearly 16) at the time and was aged 22 years by the date of trial. He was on a package holiday to Benidorm, Spain with a group of 6 other young men (including his brother). The Defendant was the tour operator for the holiday.

The Claimant and his party stayed at the Hotel Fenicia, where they occupied two rooms, and this was where the accident happened (in the Claimant’s room). 

The facts were unusual and the circumstances of the accident remained mysterious (even at trial). The Claimant and 3 other members of the party occupied one of the rooms. There were three single beds in the room and a double sofa bed. The sofa bed was located closest to the window in the room which opened only at the top and which had sliding doors. There were external bars at the bottom of the window. There was a partition wall in the room (a legacy of the fact that the room had been extended on to what used to be a balcony). The Defendant’s Health and Safety Officer, stated as follows, “Upon investigation, I discovered that the area at the far end of the bedroom beyond the partition used to be a balcony. This layout was many years prior to the accident. The external bars at the bottom of the window are therefore the original bars for the balcony and they are not part of the window.”.

The Claimant had been out for the evening with his party prior to the accident. He stated that he had returned early because he was feeling unwell and also stated that, at the time of the accident, he was the only occupant of his room. The Claimant described the accident as follows

“I opened the top section of the window to let in some air and then went to bed. Shortly after this, I wakened in order to use the bathroom. I think this was between 12.30 am and 1 am. I stood up in my bed to walk across it in order to get out to the bathroom. As I stood up, I heard the wooden panels of the bed crack underneath me. I lost my balance and fell sideways towards the open window. I fell through the open window hitting my foot on the air conditioning unit on the way down. I landed on the concrete surface below, falling onto my bottom and back.”

The Claimant fell around 7 – 8 metres. The accident was reported and a Customer Report Form was compiled. The Claimant informed the Defendant’s local representative that he had been sleep walking.

The Claimant sustained a fracture injury to his wrist and other soft tissue injuries.  

The trial Judge accepted the circumstances of the accident as reported by the Claimant. He rejected the submission that he should find that the accident happened because the Claimant had been sleep walking or had been drinking. However, he found that there was a narrow space next to the Claimant’s bed which he could have made use of to get out of bed; it was inconvenient for the Claimant to make use of this narrow space, but was not impossible. The Judge dismissed the claim because the Claimant had not adduced any evidence that the local safety standard required there to be more space around the beds in the room. He rejected the submission by the Claimant that the facts of the accident spoke for themselves. He was referred by counsel for the Claimant to an extract in Butterworth’s Personal Injury Litigation Service where, under the heading “Stating the Obvious”, it was suggested that Claimants did not need to lead evidence of what the local safety standard was where the negligence of the Defendant/Hotelier was obvious. The Judge held that this extract did not accurately represent the law (cf. Hives v First Choice Plc [2004] 21 May (Liverpool CC, HHJ Stewart QC and Jones v TUI UK Limited [2005] 4 June (Swansea CC, HHJ Bidder QC)).

The spectre of the evidential own goal after Holden v First Choice?
Wilkes v TUI UK Limited

Birmingham County Court

DDJ Parker

3rd March 2007

Mrs Wilkes was on a package holiday with her family and friends in Tenerife. She was staying at a hotel that she had been to on no less than 20 (yes, twenty!) previous occasions. From the moment of her arrival it had been pouring with rain. Two days later, it was still raining. She ventured into a part of the hotel which, despite her previous visits, she had never been to before. She found herself in a large stairwell, at the top of which, unbeknownst to her, were two open arches into which the rain was being blown. Mrs Wilkes ascended the tiled staircase until she reached the second floor landing. As she put her put forward she slipped on a puddle of rain water and fell to the ground, fracturing her hip.

Despite some initial confusion in her pleaded claim, at trial Mrs Wilkes stated that she was limiting her allegations of negligence against the Defendant to a single proposition: there should have been warning signs in place. She accepted that there was nothing wrong, as far as she knew, with the design or construction of the staircase. There was some dispute about whether the stairwell was ‘internal or external’, but Mrs Wilkes also agreed that the hotel, in the prevailing conditions, could not be expected constantly to mop up rain water whenever it entered the building.

The Defendant’s Defence was straightforward. The Claimant had not produced any evidence of applicable local standards relating to warning signs or otherwise. The (very limited) evidence from the Hotel was that there was a cleaning system in place, and this involved the use of warning signs when the floors were being mopped. There was no statutory, regulatory or customary basis for such signs, however, and the Claimant had failed to prove otherwise. This appeared to be the makings of a cast-iron Holden v First Choice Holidays (2006) QBD defence.

And then it all fell apart.

Mrs Wilkes and the Judge were intrigued by a series of safety audits which had been commissioned by the Defendant and which appeared in the trial bundle. Under the ominous heading of ‘Safety – ‘Universal’ appeared the following:

“Are warning signs used when floor is wet (eg when cleaning is in progress)?” 

A ‘tick’ appeared in the adjacent box marked ‘Yes’.

The judge accepted that he was bound by the general principles of law laid down in Wilson v Best Travel, Hone v Going Places and all the other cases with which we are all familiar. He even found, as a fact, that there had been no breach of local safety standards whatsoever. However, he considered that Holden, Wilson and Hone were all distinguishable. This was a case where the Defendant chose to impose certain safety standards on itself, and the hotels that it used. It would not be burdensome, in his view, to hold that the Defendant was therefore under a duty to comply with such standards, and that a failure to do so constituted an improper performance of the holiday contract pursuant to Regulation 15(1).

Comment: The Decision of Holden v  First Choice has given a new lease of life to the ‘local standards’ defence, particularly in claims involving allegations operational or systemic negligence. The above decision is a salutary reminder, however, that the risk of scoring the dreaded ‘evidential own goal’ remains a very real one. It is also (although the judge did not explicitly refer to it) an application of the well known passage in Wilson v Best Travel, namely: “Save where uniform international regulations apply, there are bound to be differences in the safety standards applied in respect of hazards of modern life”(emphasis added). The Defendant in this case clearly thought that the requirement for warning signs was ‘universal’, and this proved to be fatal to its defence. Nonetheless, in the light of Goldring J’s dicta in Holden that it was irrelevant that a tour operator or Hotel might aspire to higher standards than the local standard, this decision must be regarded as wrongly decided.
THE PITFALL OF MRS. FELLOWS

Fellows v TUI UK Ltd

Bristol County Court

30 October 2007

Judge Rowe

Mrs. Fellows went to a wedding party at a Hotel resort complex in the Dominican Republic in February 2005. After 10 days on holiday she and her cousin visited the Hotel’s fortnightly “Caribbean Night” and carnival or festival of music, dancing and drinking held in the expansive grounds of the complex which took place in the evening hours of darkness. She had visited this part of the complex before because it included a shopping street and the Hotel’s medical centre.

Amidst the crowd in the carnival atmosphere Mrs. Fellows stepped off the kerb following her cousin in order to cross over the road. As she did so her foot got stuck in a gulley – a trench about 14cms deep between the kerb edge and the beginning of the road surface which was in effect a storm gulley to carry away the results of the tropical downpours experienced in this part of the world from time to time. As her foot got stuck her forward momentum caused Mrs. Fellows to fall – breaking her leg and aggravating the usual soft tissue back injuries. Quantum was agreed between the parties at £20,500.00 and Mrs. Fellows claim was tried as to liability only. 

The basis of her claim was that the street was unreasonably overcrowded making it difficult to see what was happening underfoot; the gulley was a dangerous hazard in respect of which the Hotel should have erected warnings and the lighting was not good enough.

The complaint about lighting was dismissed out of hand as it had not been part of the Claimant’s pleaded case.

As to the other two complaints, the Defendant called evidence from its resort safety manager to the effect that the gulley was of a type commonplace in the Dominican Republic to carry away torrential rain water and picture were produced showing similar (and worse) gullies in other local Hotels and the local town.

The judge dismissed the action. The claim was one for damages for a negligent breach of the holiday contract. The relevant standard of care was the standard of reasonableness to be expected in the Dominican Republic and it was for the Claimant to plead and prove what local regulations or standards had been breached that were causative of the Claimant’s accident. [Holden v First Choice Holidays and Codd v Thomson Tour Operations Ltd followed]. The Claimant had not adduced any evidence of any sort capable of discharging this burden and such evidence as there was produced by the Defendant illustrated that the storm gulley was an acceptable feature of roadsides in the Dominican republic. The Judge went on to observe that the application of “local standards was perfectly logical because it was the local regulators who would best understand how to balance considerations of health and safety with the provision of appropriately designed amenities to suit the local climate and it would not be sensible to have that knowledge and experience overridden by the superimposition of myriad foreign standards by the tour operators of various nationalities that might use a holiday destination such as the Dominican republic. 

Comment: This claim was doomed to fail on the authorities and it did so. It is a classic example of the “so-what” and “local standards” defences in operation. The Claimant’s contention that the gulley was so obviously hazardous that evidence of a breach of local standards was not necessary was an indirect call to “common sense” of the sport that simply cannot work in the context of this kind of holiday accident case.
O’Grady v Cresta Holidays Limited

Liverpool CC

17th. October 2007

Judge Clarke

The Claimant and her family travelled to Majorca for a holiday in 2003. The family used the Hotel swimming pool every day, until on day 5, the Claimant emerged from the pool and as soon as her foot hit the terrace, she slipped, fell backwards and cracked her head on the concrete pool surround.

She sued the tour operator because she alleged that the terrace surface was unduly slippery and what’s more it sloped outwards from the pool towards the edge of the terrace. The claim was pleaded as a case in common law “negligence” but it was conceded at trial that the proper approach was to make a claim for breach of contract allied to regulation 15 of the Package Travel Regulations 1992. The Claimant did not plead reliance on any particular local standards relevant to the design and management of the pool, but accepted the conclusions of a single joint expert in Spanish law that local standards demanded (Law 53 of 1995):

(a) the provision of non-slip terrace tiles; and

(b) a terrace surface that sloped by at least 2% away from the edge of the pool.

The Claimant’s evidence and that of 6 other members of her extended family confirmed that she had slipped and that there was slope. The Defendant’s evidence from a senior health and safety manager was to the effect that the tiles were non-slip (and a tile was produced in court together with a specification showing its slip resistant properties) and that such slope as there was complied with the regulatory requirement that the terrace should have a slope. 

With the above evidence about the local regulations and compliance therewith it was inevitable that that the Claimant’s case would be lost – and so it was. The claim was dismissed the Claimant having failed to show any single respect in which the Hotel failed to comply with relevant and applicable local regulatory safety standards. Holden v First Choice Holidays & Flights Ltd (Goldring J. 10th. May 2006) followed.

The only point of concern for the Defendant was that the Hotel had not disclosed many documents relevant to the issues that plainly existed. This non-disclosure was tactically unhelpful, but on this occasion did not do the Defendant any harm due to the strength of the evidence on local regulatory compliance. They may not be so lucky another time.

Evans v Kosmar Villa Holidays PLC

Court of Appeal (Arden, Hooper & Richards LLJ)

24 October 2007

Lord Justice Richards :
In August 2002, three weeks short of his eighteenth birthday, James Evans was on holiday with a group of friends at the Marina Beach Apartments in Kavos, Corfu.  The holiday had been booked with a tour operator, Kosmar Villa Holidays plc (“Kosmar”).  The apartment complex was under independent Greek ownership and management but was contracted exclusively to Kosmar and was featured in Kosmar’s brochure.  It included a small swimming pool.  Towards the end of his stay, in the early hours of the morning, Mr Evans dived into the shallow end of the pool and hit his head on the bottom, sustaining serious injuries which resulted in incomplete tetraplegia.  He brought a claim for personal injuries against Kosmar.  His Honour Judge Thorn QC, sitting as a judge of the High Court, found Kosmar liable for the accident, subject to a finding of 50 per cent contributory negligence.  Kosmar now appeals against that decision.

1. It is clear that the claimant is a remarkable young man.  The judge not only found him and his friends to be completely frank witnesses, unreservedly accepting their evidence as against any conflicting evidence for Kosmar, but also commented on how impressive the claimant had been at making the best of his disabilities after the accident and congratulated him on the triumphs he had achieved over his undoubted personal disaster.  The warmth of the judge’s remarks is a fine tribute to the claimant.  As the judge himself made clear, however, that cannot affect the court’s decision in the case, which must depend on the application of the relevant legal principles to the facts as found.

2. By contrast, the judge found that Kosmar’s lay witnesses had “variously committed themselves to an early and false joint account to save their backs” and on several issues was driven to the conclusion that “not only have they lied, but that they also put their heads together, probably at several stages, and conspired together to deceive” (para 15).  Such conduct is a deeply troubling feature of the case and reflects very badly not only on the witnesses themselves but also on Kosmar.  It will no doubt have added to the sympathy that the judge rightly felt for the claimant.  Again, however, none of this can affect the legal analysis.

The facts

3. The judge described Kavos as the sort of resort that was typically aimed at young single people holidaying without adult supervision, not infrequently in groups of already formed friends, and with ample opportunities to drink substantial quantities of alcohol for very substantial periods, or indeed all of the day and night, and generally for the traditional night to be turned into day.  He said that the operation at the Marina Beach Apartments was particularly well set up to provide for the young and lively and to fit in with the commercial opportunities at the resort.  It was generally free from any real rules, and relaxed to the point of permitting most things that kept the youngsters happy.  

4. The complex itself was next to the beach and consisted of a number of studios and apartments, a bar and the pool.  A path ran from the accommodation block past the pool to the bar.  The path was separated by a flowerbed from the paved area around the pool itself.  The judge found that the bar might sometimes have closed by midnight, but more frequently it stayed open as long as there were guests wanting to drink.  When the bar closed, the lights in the swimming pool and bar area were turned off, but the lights on the path remained lit.  The judge rejected a defence contention that the pool was then closed.  He found that its use by guests was continued and authorised.  

5. The pool was 11.2 metres long and 5.8 metres wide.  At the deeper end, furthest away from the accommodation block, the maximum depth of the water was almost certainly no more than 1.5 metres, though there was a ledge under the water on which people could stand.  At the shallow end, the depth of the water was probably only about 0.8 metres.  There was a small depth marker at each end of the pool, though they were probably not visible at night.  

6. The experts agreed that the pool’s dimensions made it unsuitable for diving.  There were two small “no diving” signs in the general area of the pool at the material time.  One was on the wall of the toilet block, on the other side of the path running between the accommodation block and the bar, though the judge found that there was shrubbery hanging partly over and adjacent to the sign.  The other sign was on a tree on the far side of the pool, close to the bar area.  Both signs were among a collection of other notices.  Despite the existence of those signs, diving was in practice a regular occurrence.  Indeed, the judge found that “the Defendant knew full well that not only was the pool regularly used when the bar was shut, but also that diving did take place, probably on a regular basis, and without any reproof or reprimand” (para 19(4)(e)).

7. The judge accepted that the claimant had probably used the pool only once before the accident, on the Tuesday morning of his stay.  In his witness statement, from which the judge quoted extensively, the claimant said that on that occasion he jumped into the deep end to cool off and stood on the ledge, leaning over the edge and talking to friends.  He did not go into the shallow end.  A little later he referred to his having seen people diving in from all sides and at all ends.  He never thought that people would dive in like that to a shallow pool, and consequently he assumed that the pool was reasonably deep all around.  He was not aware of there being a significant change in depth between the end he was using and the opposite end.  He did not recall seeing any signs pointing out the depth of the pool or stating that there was to be no diving.  

8. On the Wednesday evening the claimant went out with his friends for a meal and stayed out late.  When he returned with one of his room-mates, they stayed in their apartment talking until about 3.30 a.m.  They had also woken up their other room-mate.  It was very hot and they had the windows open.  There was a lot of noise from the pool.  They could not sleep, so they thought “if you can’t beat them, join them” and went out to the pool.  The claimant’s witness statement continued:

“18. … There were many other people using our pool and also the pool in the next door hotel.  We couldn’t see anyone else we knew there.  The bar was shut and the light was poor as we were relying on light from next door and from the apartments.  People were diving in all over the place so I had no reason to think there would be a problem if I did the same.  I had not seen any depth markings when it was light so none were apparent in the darkness.  At the same time I also could not assess the depth of the pool before I entered but no-one else was having a problem so I assumed all would be fine if I dived in.”

9. The claimant went on to explain that he had learned to swim at about the age of 8 and had used pools in Turkey and Spain on family holidays as well as in the United Kingdom.  He knew that you should not dive into water if you do not know how deep it is.  However, he had assumed that this pool was safe.  Because he was unaware of the depth of the pool and because he thought that it was perfectly safe to dive in, having seen other people doing it, he walked up and dived in.  His was, as he recalled, “a very ordinary racing type of dive out into the water”.  The dive was in fact into the shallow end, close to the point where there are ladder-type steps into the pool.  He hit his head on the bottom and, it seems, was fortunate to be rescued before he drowned.

10. In cross-examination by Mr Eklund QC, the claimant made a number of further important concessions.  The judge summarised the effect of the cross-examination as follows:

“29.  … Jamie was clearly a reasonably experienced swimmer, as his witness statement indicated.  He had known that pools were bound to vary in size, in shape, and in depth, and that the shape of the bottom of pools could, and did, vary.  He agreed that he knew that most pools have a deep and a shallower end, albeit he commented they are usually marked with such in his experience.  He admitted that he knew that knowingly diving into a shallow end could be a very dangerous thing to do, and it could be a dangerous thing to dive in if he did not know the depth of the swimming pool.  He admitted that he knew that it was dangerous to dive in if he could not see the bottom of the pool, but he added ‘I saw others diving in’.  He admitted that he could have looked for depth markers, but commented that he did not recall seeing any of them; nor had he recalled seeing people swimming in this pool during the holiday, although he supposed he must have done.  He had no recollection of people standing in the shallow end and thereby indicating it since probably half of their body would then be out of water.

30.  In cross-examination, the Claimant added, ‘I simply did not know it was the shallow end.  I only had got wet in the deep end previously to cool off.  I assumed there was no change of depth from there for the length of the pool’. …

31.  The cross-examination, which was extensive, and running for just short of two hours, continued with the Claimant making a number of concessions along the lines that I have already indicated.  They included the fact that he did not think he needed supervising, nor to be told not to dive in if he did not know the depth.  He even agreed now, in hindsight, that what he had done was a dangerous thing to do, but, again, he added that he was only doing what he saw other people were doing in diving in.”

11. In his submissions to us, Mr Eklund referred to specific passages in the evidence to bring home the points summarised by the judge.  In my view, however, a sufficient flavour is given in the passages from the judgment that I have quoted above.  

12. After dealing with the evidence of the other witnesses called on behalf of the claimant, the judge returned to the claimant’s knowledge of the pool.  He found that at the time of his accident the claimant did not know “in any meaningful sense” that the end into which he was to dive was shallower than the end in which he had stood on the Tuesday.  He could have done, but he did not.  On seeing others diving in, he simply joined them.  In the exuberance of youth, and in the spirit of the moment, he simply dived in to join them at the nearest point as he was seeing others do, and had seen others do previously.  

13. That leads on to the judge’s specific findings about the accident itself.  He found first that the claimant “should, and could, have known if he had really thought about it that the closest poolside into which he was to dive was the shallow end, and that his assumption that the pool was of the same depth at both ends might at least be inaccurate” (para 41).  He then said that this could not be the end of his attempt to understand what happened and why the claimant dived in here having such knowledge that he previously had.  The judge said that after careful consideration he made the following ten further findings of fact on the balance of probabilities (para 42):

“(1)  The Claimant was foreseeably tired.  He had been living a fairly typical unstructured lifestyle compared with what he had been used to in the UK, which could only have been expected, and it was inevitable, and even offered as the nature of their holiday operation and the provision of a very late night bar and a swimming pool for which there was always open access.

(2)  The Claimant had had some alcoholic drink.  It was almost certainly less than the defence might have expected of some of their young guests, especially amongst such a teenaged group as was this one.

(3)  He was in a holiday resort and location given to twenty-four hour hospitality with a purpose-built swimming pool facility that was available for use at all hours.

(4)  The Claimant not unreasonably thought, as I find, that the pool was available; it was in actual use; and that others were, and had previously been, diving in ‘all around’.

(5)  Insofar as the Defendant had rules or advice to prevent either, they were inadequate by any objective standard, and for the Claimant there was nothing adequate to prevent what I find was then to happen in this accident.

(6)  Objectively, he knew that diving in here was unwise and potentially dangerous.  In the ordinary event, he would never have done so, and he did not ordinarily need to be told that.

(7)  That in the foreseeable exuberance of the youthful use of this pool, especially in the very late heat of the night, he copied what he had seen others doing on this occasion and others, both in deciding to go swimming this night when the bar was shut, and others were ‘diving in from all sides’.  In those circumstances he forgot his own good sense, but against which possibility properly and prominently displayed warning signs were surely designed to prevent, especially given the nature of this sort of holiday facility.  I find that, on the balance of probability, such better placed and more prominent signs which were recommended would indeed have brought him to his better sense before he dived in.

(8)  In the foreseeable spirit of the moment, lacking more mature years and experience, and lacking such precautions as the Defendant could, and should, have taken in reasonable foresight of such an accident, with such potentially disastrous consequences, the Claimant walked out of the accommodation block and simply dived in to join his mates and others, including a quite separate group from Liverpool in the pool.

(9)  What previous knowledge of the dangers the Claimant had had, that deserted him on this occasion.  With nothing in particular by way of adequate safeguards and warnings, not even as the defence alleged, to help bring him to his senses at this late hour, any prior and useful knowledge left him.  He dived in at the nearest point to him.  It happened to be the shallower end.  He was thoughtless at the time – foreseeably so, as I find, in the circumstances and nature of this holiday venue run by the Defendant.  I think they both share some blame here, but that might be another matter as to whether it amounts to legal culpability by the Defendant in this litigation, and, if so, how any liability might be apportioned.

(10)  Finally, the Claimant knew beforehand that he should not have done as he did.  He well knows now that he should not have done as he did.  But, I find that the only explicable reason for what happened – as, indeed, the Claimant told me – was that actually at this particular time he was completely unaware and oblivious to the dangers he was courting.  There was nothing then present that might adequately have deterred him from his brief state of inadvertence which the safety standards were designed to prevent, and thus briefly bring him to his senses on this occasion before he dived in.  But for the simple and inexpensive precautions that have been canvassed here, this foreseeable accident could, and, on the balance of probabilities, would have been prevented in this case.”

Other relevant matters

14. I have already mentioned that the experts agreed that the pool was not safe for diving.  The judge said that the significant disagreement between them was as to whether the “no diving” signs and the signage generally were adequate.  The claimant’s expert, Mr Boydell, criticised the positioning and size of the “no diving” signs and also said that the signage relating to closure should have been explicit and enforced.  The defence expert, Mr Fowler, was less critical of the signage although he made a number of concessions helpful to the claimant’s case.  It is clear from the general tenor of his judgment that the judge preferred the evidence of Mr Boydell.  In para 42 of his judgment, quoted above, he referred repeatedly to the absence of adequate safeguards and warnings.  In para 52 he found in relation to each of the “no diving” signs that the “the sign was visible, the message was not”.  He also found that the signage failed to comply with the guidance issued by the Federation of Tour Operators (“FTO”), which calls for fuller consideration.  

15. The FTO’s Health and Safety Handbook contains a section headed “Suggestions for Swimming Pool Safety”, which also appears to be available as a separate leaflet to be given to hoteliers and others.  The judge referred in particular to the following paragraphs:

“4.  Depth markings should be placed at regular intervals.  Minimum 2m apart on small pools, 3m apart on large pools ….

5.  Gradual changes in depths should be indicated at these regular intervals as indicated.

6.  Sudden changes in depths should be clearly marked ….

…

8.  No Diving signs should be displayed in a prominent position, especially in areas with depths of less than 1.5m.

9.  Opening hours and emergency procedures should be clearly visible.”

The judge observed that in this case there was no depth marker signage complying with paras 4, 5 or 6; that “no diving” signs were particularly required here but were not displayed in a prominent position in accordance with para 8; and that opening hours and emergency procedures were not clearly visible in accordance with para 9.  The handbook also contained an illustration of the layout of the sort of signage referred to, as to which the judge said that “[t]he signage here did not begin to compare with what the FTO have suggested”.

16. The judge did not deal with the status of the FTO guidance, but the issue featured in argument before us and it will be helpful to consider it here.  We were informed that only about 30 per cent of tour operators are members of the FTO.  The foreword to the handbook states that the handbook “has been produced to help anyone who wishes to improve health and safety standards for holiday makers”, and that it is a tribute to the FTO’s health and safety officers and others “that significant improvements to safety standards have been achieved especially when, as they often do, these improvements are over and above the local regulations”.  The foreword is followed by an “important notice” stating that “[t]he information and advice contained in this Handbook is designed to assist tour operators and their suppliers to develop their own safety systems.  It should, however, be regarded as a starting point, and not as a definitive statement of the law or technical safety standards”.  

17. There was evidence that the FTO guidance formed part of the documents used internally within Kosmar for the training of its representatives.  There was, however, no evidence that it was regarded as laying down internationally recognised or uniform standards.  Mr Fowler accepted in cross-examination that Mediterranean hotels conventionally have signs designating which end of the pool is the shallow end and which is the deep end, and also conventionally “comply with uniform standards about prominent diving prohibition signs”, but did not cover the nature or detailed content of any such standards.

Breach of duty

18. The claimant’s case was based on the holiday contract between the claimant and Kosmar, with additional reliance on regulation 15 of the Package Travel, Package Holidays and Package Tours Regulations 1992 (“the 1992 Regulations”).  

19. The amended particulars of claim pleaded implied terms of the contract that (i) the facilities at the apartments and in particular the swimming pool and its surrounds would comply with local regulations and safety standards applicable in Corfu in 2002, (ii) reasonable skill and care would be exercised in the provision of the facilities and services at the apartments and in particular at the swimming pool and its surrounds, and (iii) the facilities at the apartments would be of a reasonable standard by complying with recommended minimum standards laid down by the FTO.  Breaches of each of those implied terms were pleaded.

20. The amended particulars of claim also pleaded that there had been “improper performance” of the holiday contract within the meaning of regulation 15 of the 1992 Regulations.  Regulation 15 covers the situation where services to which the contract relates are supplied by someone other than the contracting party.  It therefore applied to the operation of the apartment complex in this case.  Para (1) provides that “[t]he other party to the contract is liable to the consumer for the proper performance of the obligations under the contract, irrespective of whether such obligations are to be performed by the other party or by other suppliers of services …”.  Para (2) provides that “[t]he other party to the contract is liable to the consumer for any damage caused to him by … the improper performance of the contract …”.   But the question whether there has been “improper performance” is to be determined by reference to the terms of the contract, which in this case takes one back to the implied terms as pleaded:   Hone v Going Places Leisure Travel Limited [2001] EWCA Civ 947, para 15.  

21. The first of the implied terms pleaded by the claimant may owe its formulation to Wilson v Best Travel Ltd [1993] 1 All ER 353.  In that case the plaintiff, while staying in a hotel in Greece on a holiday booked through the defendant tour operator, sustained serious injuries on tripping and falling through glass patio doors at the hotel.  The plaintiff’s claim, which pre-dated the 1992 Regulations, was based on an implied warranty that the structure of the hotel would be reasonably safe, alternatively a duty of care arising out of the term implied by s.13 of the Supply of Goods and Services Act 1982.  The judge, Phillips J (as he then was), found against a warranty but accepted the existence of a duty of care.  He held that the service provided by the defendant included the inspection of properties offered in its brochure and that the defendant owed a duty to exercise reasonable care to exclude from the accommodation offered any hotel whose characteristics were such that guests could not spend a holiday there in reasonable safety (p.356d-h).  The evidence was that it was the practice in England, but not yet in Greece, to fit safety glass to doors.  In those circumstances the judge held that there was no breach of the defendant’s duty, stating (at p.358b-d):

“What is the duty of a tour operator in a situation such as this?  Must he refrain from sending holidaymakers to any hotel whose characteristics, in so far as safety is concerned, fail to satisfy the standards which apply in this country?  I do not believe that his obligations in respect of the safety of his clients can extend this far.  Save where uniform international regulations apply, there are bound to be differences in the safety standards applied in respect of the many hazards of modern life between one country and another.  All civilised countries attempt to cater for these hazards by imposing mandatory regulations.  The duty of care of a tour operator is likely to extend to checking that local safety regulations are complied with.  Provided that they are, I do not consider that the tour operator owes a duty to boycott a hotel because of the absence of some safety feature which would be found in an English hotel unless the absence of such a feature might lead a reasonable holidaymaker to decline to take a holiday at the hotel in question.”

22. A claim such as that in Wilson v Best Travel Ltd would no doubt be put differently under the 1992 Regulations:  since the tour operator is directly liable under those regulations for improper performance of the contract by the hotel even if the hotel is under independent ownership and management, the focus can be on the exercise of reasonable care in the operation of the hotel itself rather than in the selection of the hotel and the offer of accommodation at it.  But I do not think that this affects the principle laid down as to the standard to be applied to a hotel abroad, namely that the hotel is required to comply with local safety regulations rather than with British safety standards.  That was the approach in Codd v Thomson Tour Operators Limited (Court of Appeal judgment of 7 July 2000), in which the claimant had been injured while travelling in a lift at a hotel in which he was staying in Majorca.  The tour operator accepted that it would be liable (presumably under the 1992 Regulations) if negligence was established against those who were responsible for running and managing the hotel, but the judge found that liability was not established.  The Court of Appeal dismissed the claimant’s appeal, citing Wilson v Best Travel Ltd for the proposition that there was no requirement for the hotel to comply with British safety standards, and holding that there was no breach of local safety regulations and that there was no negligence by the hotel management either in relation to the maintenance of the lift or in relation to safety procedures.

23. In the present case, there was no evidence to support the pleaded claim of non-compliance with local safety regulations, and that way of putting the case was not pursued at trial.  In my view, however, it was still open to the claimant to pursue the claim on the other bases pleaded in the amended particulars of claim.  What was said in Wilson v Best Travel Ltd did not purport to be an exhaustive statement of the duty of care, and it does not seem to me that compliance with local safety regulations is necessarily sufficient to fulfil that duty.  That was evidently also the view taken in Codd, where the court found there to be compliance with local safety regulations but nevertheless went on to consider other possible breaches of the duty of care.

24. I can deal briefly with the pleaded failure to comply with minimum standards laid down by the FTO.  I have already described the FTO’s Health and Safety Handbook and the “Suggestions for Swimming Pool Safety” contained within it.  In my view the handbook is referred to correctly as guidance.  It is advisory in character and has no legal force.  It does not lay down standards with which Kosmar is required to comply.  As I understood Mr Saggerson’s submissions to us, he did not contend otherwise but relied on the handbook simply as “informing” the standard of care and as casting light on whether Kosmar had exercised reasonable care in this case.

25. The case therefore comes down to the most general of the implied terms pleaded, that reasonable skill and care would be exercised in the provision of facilities and services at the apartment complex and in particular at the swimming pool and its surrounds.  It is common ground that such a term is to be implied.  The dispute relates to the scope of the duty of care and whether there was in the particular circumstances a breach of that duty.

26. If there was a duty to exercise reasonable care to guard against what the claimant did in this case, then in my view the judge was entitled to find a breach of duty.  It was open to him to accept the evidence of the claimant’s expert, Mr Boydell, as to the deficiencies of the signage, and to find non-compliance with the FTO guidance; and his conclusion that there was a failure to exercise reasonable care, in particular as to the prominence of the “no diving” signage around the pool, is not one with which there is any reason to interfere.  

27. But did the duty of care extend that far?  The essence of Kosmar’s case is that there is no duty to guard against an obvious risk of the kind that existed here, namely that diving into shallow water (or into water of unknown depth) may cause injury.  That risk was obvious to an ordinary able-bodied adult such as the claimant.  The evidence shows that he knew of the risk and was able to assess it for himself.  He took a deliberate decision to dive in.  Kosmar was under no duty to warn him against such a course or to take other measures to prevent it.  The fact that he dived in, as the judge found, in a brief state of inadvertence does not affect the position:  that could be said of almost all accidents, and again there is no duty to guard against it.  Nor is the position affected by the fact that a lot of people were taking the same obvious risk by diving in.

28. The most important of the cases relied on by Mr Eklund is Tomlinson v Congleton Borough Council [2004] 1 AC 46.  That case concerned a lake in a country park owned and occupied by the first defendant and managed by the second defendant.  Swimming in the lake was prohibited and the defendants displayed prominent warning notices.  The first defendant, aware that the notices were frequently ignored and that several accidents had resulted from swimming in the lake, intended planting vegetation around the shore to prevent people from going into the water but had not yet done so because of a shortage of financial resources.  The claimant, aged 18, went into the lake and from a standing position in shallow water dived and struck his head on the sandy bottom, breaking his neck.  He claimed damages, alleging that the accident had been caused by the defendants’ breach of the duty of care they owed to him as a trespasser under s.1 of the Occupiers’ Liability Act 1984, by which a duty is owed in respect of risks of injury by reason of any danger due to the state of the premises.  His claim failed at first instance, succeeded by a majority in the Court of Appeal, but failed once more on a further appeal to the House of Lords.

29. In his dissenting judgment in the Court of Appeal, Longmore LJ observed (p.62, para 47):

“One of the dangers of going for a swim in any stretch of water other than a dedicated swimming pool is that the swimmer may slip and injure himself.  He may also quickly find himself out of his depth and be unable to cope; he may get cramp or be assailed by the coldness of the water and be unable to recover.  All these are obvious dangers to anyone except a small and unaccompanied child.  Another danger is that a swimmer may decide to dive into the water and hit his head on the bottom, if the water is too shallow; in my judgment that is an equally obvious danger and cannot provide a reason for saying that the owner or occupier of the water should be under any duty to take reasonable steps to prevent people swimming or diving in the relevant stretch of water.”

Mr Eklund submitted that that reasoning applies equally to an adult diving into a swimming pool, as occurred in this case.  He also relied on para 51 of Longmore LJ’s judgment, in which it was said that a duty could arise only if there was a particular hazard (over and above the ordinary risks of swimming) in the stretch of water concerned.  Mr Eklund stressed that in this case the pool was in proper condition and contained no particular hazard. 

30. The leading speech in the House of Lords was given by Lord Hoffmann, with whom Lord Nicholls of Birkenhead and Lord Scott of Foscote agreed.  Lord Hoffmann held that the only risk arose out of what the claimant chose to do and not out of the state of the premises, so that there was no risk of a kind which gave rise to a duty under the 1984 Act.  But even on the assumption that there was such a risk, he held that there can have been no duty under the Act.  An integral part of the reasoning that led to that conclusion was his consideration of what the position would have been if the claimant had been a lawful visitor owed the common duty of care under s.2(2) of the Occupiers’ Liability Act 1957, namely “a duty to take such care as in all the circumstances of the case is reasonable to see that the visitor will be reasonably safe in using the premises for the purposes for which he is invited or permitted by the occupier to be there”. Lord Hoffmann identified two important considerations.  The first was the social value of the activities which would have to be prohibited in order to reduce or eliminate the risk from swimming, namely use of the beaches to sunbathe, paddle and play with children.  The second consideration, examined under the heading “free will”, was whether people should accept responsibility for the risks they choose to run.  Lord Hoffmann said this:

“44.  … Mr Tomlinson was freely and voluntarily undertaking an activity which inherently involved some risk ….

45.  I think it will be extremely rare for an occupier of land to be under a duty to prevent people from taking risks which are inherent in the activities they freely choose to undertake upon the land.  If people want to climb mountains, go hang-gliding or swim or dive in ponds or lakes, that is their affair ….

46.  My Lords, as will be clear from what I have just said, I think that there is an important question of freedom at stake.  It is unjust that the harmless recreation of responsible parents and children with buckets and spades on the beaches should be prohibited in order to comply with what is thought to be a legal duty to safeguard irresponsible visitors against dangers which are perfectly obvious.  The fact that such people take no notice of warnings cannot create a duty to take other steps to protect them.  I find it difficult to express with appropriate moderation my disagreement with the proposition of Sedley LJ … that it is ‘only where the risk is so obvious that the occupier can safely assume that nobody will take it that there will be no liability’.  A duty to protect against obvious risks or self-inflicted harm exists only in cases in which there is no genuine and informed choice, as in the case of employees whose work requires them to take the risk, or some lack of capacity, such as the inability of children to recognise danger … or the despair of prisoners which may lead them to inflict injury on themselves ….

…

50.  My Lords, for these reasons I consider that even if swimming had not been prohibited and the council had owed a duty under section 2(2) of the 1957 Act, that duty would not have required them to take any steps to prevent Mr Tomlinson from diving or warning him against dangers which were perfectly obvious.  If that is the case, then plainly there can have been no duty under the 1984 Act.  The risk was not one against which he was entitled under section 1(3)(c) to protection ….”

31. Similar passages are to be found in the speech of Lord Hobhouse of Woodborough, who described the claimant as “an 18 year old youth who ought to be well able to appreciate and cope with the character of an ordinary lake” (para 71) and said that all the relevant characteristics of the lake were already obvious to the claimant and that no purpose was in fact served by the defendants’ warning:  “It told the claimant nothing he did not already know” (para 74). 

32. In general I think it unnecessary to refer to the earlier authorities cited by Mr Eklund, all of which were considered in Tomlinson.  It is, however, worth noting that Tomlinson approved the very similar reasoning in Ratcliff v McConnell [1999] 1 WLR 670 in relation to injury sustained by a trespasser when diving into a closed swimming pool at night.  Stuart-Smith LJ, giving the main judgment, stressed the importance of identifying the risk or danger concerned, and continued:

“36.  The relevant danger here was that if someone dived into the pool they might hit their head on the bottom if there was insufficient water to accommodate the dive.  That is a danger which is common to all swimming pools.  There is no uniformity in shape, size or configuration of swimming pools.  It seems to me that it is a danger which is obvious to any adult and indeed to most children who were old enough to have learnt to dive. 

37. … Even if the defendants knew or had reasonable grounds to believe that students might defy the prohibition on use of the pool and climb over the not insignificant barrier of the wall or gate, it does not seem to me that they were under any duty to warn the plaintiff against diving into too shallow water, a risk of which any adult would be aware and which the plaintiff, as one would expect, admitted that he was aware ….  Even in the case of a lawful visitor there is no duty to warn of a danger that is apparent ….”

33. Mr Eklund relied on such authorities before the judge as well as before us.  At para 59 of his judgment, the judge said that he distinguished the present case on its facts from all of those cited by Mr Eklund.  He also distinguished them on the basis that they were cases in tort, under the Occupiers’ Liability Act, whereas the claimant’s claim was in contract and for breach of statutory duty.  At para 59(1) he said this:

“[I]n this case the Claimant sues for the Defendant’s breach of contract and their statutory liability for improper performance.  This case is therefore not about the Claimant’s limited rights under the Occupiers’ Liability Acts legislation.  Therefore, considerations of a very different nature arise here as compared with the public use of what I shall generally call ‘the natural environment’.  Especially, in my judgment, this case is nothing at all to do with imposing unreasonable obligations upon alleged tortfeasors, the liability of owners of either public or privately owned property to which either visitors or trespasser gain access and then suffer death or personal injury, let alone does the floodgates argument arise in this case of indeterminate liability to an unknown and undiscoverable class of potential litigants in this perceived litigious age.”

34. At para 59(2) he said that “the Claimant had actually paid this Defendant as part of a commercial enterprise for a holiday abroad that would impliedly be reasonably safe for him, and be properly performed as a contract”, and that contractual and statutory duties then arose.  

35. At para 59(3) he referred to the “free will arguments” demonstrated in the Occupiers’ Liability Act cases cited by the defence, but expressed the view that “this is not a free will case in that context” for several reasons:

“(a)  This is not so because the Defendant undertook to contract personally with this Claimant – incidentally, then a minor.  If he was such a stranger as those appear to be in the Defendant’s cited cases, this Defendant was in a commercially dominant position both to require more information about this contracting party with whom in fact they chose to engage, and even to deploy exemption or limitation clauses to protect themselves if they had so wished.  They in fact did neither.

(b)  The free will argument deployed here by the defence is surely quite misconceived.  First, the real free will in any meaningful sense rested primarily with the Defendant.  They chose to contract with him and accept his money.  By comparison, this Claimant was entitled to presume that his holiday contract fulfilled common-sense and the reasonable hope and expectation that he would be kept reasonably safe by the application of the generally recognised standards of the leisure industry, as incidentally admitted in substance by para 2 of their defence.  This Defendant did not, as I have found.

I have a third comment to make about this free will argument as deployed here by the Defendant against this Claimant.  Implied in this concept if relevant to a claim that any breach of contract or statutory duty is to be defeated, there must surely also be the Claimant’s informed consent to a known, or advised, risk at the time of his own apparent, and alleged, folly.  In this case, as I have tried to demonstrate, I find on the facts this to be quite to the contrary.  It seems to me that this Claimant had neither any properly informed consent, and nor was he properly and appropriately advised as his contractual rights and the statutory provisions required, in the proper performance of this contract.”

36. This was followed by the judge’s conclusion (at para 60) that “I necessarily find proved the Defendant’s breaches of contract and the breach of their statutory liability as alleged by the Claimant”.  At para 64, in the context of the issue of contributory negligence, he referred to “a proven breach of a contract, and blatant breaches as I find of the very legislation that was designed to protect such a vulnerable Claimant as this”.

37. The judge’s reasoning is open to a number of detailed criticisms:  in particular, there is no obvious relevance in Kosmar having a dominant position (if it does) or having the power to require more information about the claimant; it would not have been open to Kosmar to exclude or limit liability for this accident; para 2 of the defence did not contain the admission attributed to it; and it is difficult to see what point the judge was making as regards informed consent and the giving of advice.  But I would reject a further specific criticism made by Mr Eklund, that the judge was treating the FTO guidance as having statutory force:  the judge’s references to statutory liability must have been intended to be references to liability under regulation 15 of the 1992 Regulations for improper performance of the contract.

38. The fundamental question, however, is whether the judge was right to distinguish the line of cases under the Occupiers’ Liability Acts as he did and to treat them as having no relevance to the contractual context (and related statutory context) of the present case.  There are of course factual differences between the cases.  The judge was also right that the extent of the duty owed by occupiers of land to trespassers and even to lawful visitors may be affected by policy considerations that have no parallel in the context of a holiday contract.  But the core of the reasoning in Tomlinson, as in earlier cases such as Ratcliff v McConnell, was that people should accept responsibility for the risks they choose to run and that there should be no duty to protect them against obvious risks (subject to Lord Hoffmann’s qualification as to cases where there is no genuine and informed choice or there is some lack of capacity).   That reasoning was held to apply in relation not only to trespassers but also to lawful visitors to whom there is owed the common duty of care under s.2(2) of the Occupiers’ Liability Act 1957 – a duty which, by s.5 of the 1957 Act, can be owed to contractual as well as to non-contractual visitors.  I do not see why the reasoning should not also apply to persons to whom there is owed a duty of care in similar terms under a contract of the kind that existed in this case. 

39. Mr Eklund drew our attention to the fact that in Dean v Thomson Tour Operators Limited (judgment of Silber J, 16 June 2000) it was agreed by the parties that where a tour operator was under a contractual duty to supply facilities to a reasonable standard, the principles to be applied were analogous to those in the Occupiers’ Liability Act 1957.  Mr Eklund was able to make forensic play of the fact that Mr Saggerson was on that occasion counsel for the defendant tour operator rather than the claimant, but I do not think that the case itself is of any real assistance, for the very reason that the point went by concession and, although implicitly accepted by the judge, was not the subject of any argument.  For the reasons I have given, however, I think that the approach adopted in the case was the correct one.

40. Applying that approach here, Kosmar’s duty of care did not extend, in my judgment, to a duty to guard the claimant against the risk of his diving into the pool and injuring himself.  That was an obvious risk, of which he was well aware.  Although just under 18 years of age, he was of full capacity and was able to make a genuine and informed choice.  He was not even seriously affected by drink.  

41. Mr Saggerson argued that, on the particular facts as found by the judge, the claimant was not aware of any risk.  At the moment when he dived, he assessed it as safe for him to dive, as others were doing.   As the judge said, any prior and useful knowledge left him and he acted in a brief state of inadvertence.  Mr Saggerson submitted that this case should be about the need for prominent signage to reduce the risk of people in the claimant’s position reaching a wrong conclusion as the claimant did.  The point, in effect, was that it is not a matter of guarding against an obvious risk but of guarding against the possibility of a mistaken assessment of the risk.  That is a clever way of seeking to meet the argument based on Tomlinson, but I would reject it.  The risk in this case remained an obvious one of which the claimant himself was previously aware and should have been aware at the moment he dived.  The fact that at that moment he acted thoughtlessly, in a brief state of inadvertence, is not a good reason for holding Kosmar to have been under a duty that it would not otherwise have owed him.  

42. Accordingly I take the view that there was no duty to give the claimant any warning about the risk of diving into the pool, let alone to have better placed or more prominent signs than those actually displayed, or to take any other step to prevent or deter him from using the pool or from diving into it.  His dive and its terrible consequences are matters for which he must take full personal responsibility.

43. It follows that I would allow Kosmar’s appeal against the judge’s finding that Kosmar was in breach of its contractual duty of care and liable under regulation 15 of the 1992 Regulations for improper performance of the holiday contract.

Causation

44. I will deal with this issue even though, because of the conclusion I have reached on the first issue, it is not strictly necessary for me to do so.   

45. The judge, having found breaches of contract and breach of statutory duty, continued (at para 60):  “I find that on the balance of probabilities this accident would not have happened but for them, and that causation is established by the Claimant”.  More specifically, it seems that causation was established on the basis that the claimant acted in a brief state of inadvertence and that better placed and more prominent warning signs would have brought him to his senses before he dived in.  It was the claimant’s own belief, stated by him in evidence, that if he had seen signs he would not have dived in.  

46. The judge did not indicate the precise location or nature of the warning signs that in his view were required in order to fulfil the duty of care and have the requisite effect on the claimant’s mind.  The judge had before him, however, photographs of signage put up since the accident, which include a new “no diving” sign on the wall of the toilet block and an additional “no diving” sign on a post located on the paved area at the shallow end of the pool (but standing some distance away from the pool itself).  He is likely to have had this material in mind when reaching his conclusions.  

47. This court will be slow to interfere with a finding of this kind.  I have to say, however, that the finding in this case causes me considerable concern.  It is striking that the claimant, on his own evidence, had not previously seen or taken in, even in daytime, any of the matters that indicated the existence of a shallow end, and did not see them on the occasion of the accident.  He did not even see the ladder-type steps which were close to the point from which he dived in.  Moreover the accident occurred in the hours of darkness, with the pool itself unlit, though the path lights were still on and would have cast some light onto the general area of the pool; and the claimant commented in his witness statement that the light was poor.  In all the circumstances, if “no diving” signs of the kind that were put up after the accident had been present at the time of the accident, I think it improbable that they would have made any difference:  it is unlikely that the claimant would have seen them or taken them in or that they would have operated to bring him to his senses and prevent the accident.  Similar considerations apply in relation to any contention that there should have been explicit signage prohibiting use of the pool after the bar had closed and the main lights had been turned off (though, as Mr Saggerson appeared to accept in argument, that was not the basis on which the judge found liability).  It is also unlikely that additional signage would have stopped other people from using the pool and diving in, or therefore from setting the example which the claimant said he followed.  

48. In my view we are in as good a position as the judge to evaluate the relevant evidence and reach a conclusion on it; and, for the reasons given, I respectfully differ from the conclusion reached by the judge.  In my judgment the claim should fail on causation even if a breach of duty were established.  This provides an additional reason for allowing the appeal against the judge’s finding of liability.

Contributory negligence

49. Given the conclusion I have reached on liability, Kosmar’s appeal against the judge’s finding in relation to contributory negligence falls away.  I shall do no more than outline the issue and express the conclusion I would have reached on it had it arisen for decision.  Mr Eklund submitted that relevant causative responsibility for the accident lay almost wholly with the claimant, whose degree of responsibility was at least 80 per cent, and that the judge’s conclusion defied rational analysis.  Mr Saggerson submitted that this case had 50:50 stamped all over it.  I would have accepted Mr Saggerson’s submission.  In my judgment, if the judge’s approach to liability had been correct, there would have been no basis for interfering with his equal apportionment of responsibility.  

Conclusion

50. In conclusion, whilst sympathising greatly with the claimant’s plight, I take the view that the judge’s finding of liability was wrong, both as regards breach of duty and as regards causation.  I would allow the appeal and dismiss the claimant’s claim.
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Contract Terms, Excursions, Strict Liability, All Due Care?

ZOE LOUISE JAY
Claimant

-and-


TUI UK LIMITED 

(formerly known as Thomson Holidays Limited)


Defendant

November 2006 

HHJ Adrain Palmer (Edited Extracts from Judgment)

Introduction

1.
The defendant in this case is TUI UK Limited. TUI is the corporate name of Thomson Holidays, the well-known tour operator. In this judgment, I shall refer to the defendant by the name of Thomson throughout. 

2.
In December 2000, the claimant Zoe Jay booked a "Late Deal" holiday with Thomson for herself, her husband and two friends, to go to Barbados for one week, departing on 28 January 2001. It is common ground that this booking gave rise to a contract between Mrs Jay and Thomson, governed by the terms of the "Late Deal Agreement" set out at [264] ("the Contractual Terms"). 

3.
The party duly flew to Barbados on 28 January. The next day, they attended an introductory meeting, presented by a number of Thomson representatives. As a result of what they were told (and saw on a video), they booked a day's sailing excursion on the catamaran "Tiami II" ("Tiami"). This booking constituted a local excursion bought through a uniformed Thomson holiday representative, within the meaning of clause 6 of the Contractual Terms. A voucher was issued to the party [278], headed "St James Travel and Tours Ltd" ("St James Travel") and acknowledging receipt of the relevant deposit. St James Travel was the duly appointed agent of Thomson for the purpose of organising and contracting local excursions for Thomson holidaymakers. 

5.
The excursion took place on 2 February. At about 1430hrs, at a position approximately half a mile off Batts Rock on the south west coast of Barbados, Tiami was hit by a sudden gust or squall of wind. Within seconds (as I find) the mast broke at a point about 14ft above the mast step and fell to the deck. As it did so, it struck Mrs Jay, first on the head and then on the back. As a result, she suffered serious injury, including a laceration of the scalp and a burst fracture of the L1 vertebra; in addition, she subsequently suffered serious post-traumatic stress disorder. 

6.
Mrs Jay claims damages in respect of these injuries. One thing can be said at the outset: she was the innocent victim of a serious accident of a type that does not ordinarily happen without negligence. She was fully entitled to seek a remedy. 
9.
It was therefore common ground between the parties at trial that a cause of the accident was the manufacturing defect in the mast of Tiami. 

11.
In this fashion, Mrs Jay alleges two causes for the accident at paragraph 15 of her Re-Amended Particulars of Claim [10E]. Not only was the mast defective, but also there was negligent seamanship. 

12.
Thomson denies that the seamanship was either negligent or causative of the accident – for reasons which I shall consider in detail later in this judgment. It says that the sole cause of the accident was the defective mast. 
14.
The relevant parties in the present case are of course not subject to English law (save for Thomson). As a result, Mrs Jay claims against Thomson alone, on the basis that Thomson is liable in respect of the accident, pursuant to clauses 6 and 7 of the Contractual Terms. Clause 6 and the relevant parts of clause 7 are as follows: 

"6. Our responsibility for your holiday

We will arrange for you to have the services that make up the holiday that you choose and that we confirm these services will be provided either directly by us or by independent suppliers contracted by us. We are responsible for making sure that each part of the holiday you book with us is provided to a reasonable standard and as described in the brochure or in any amendments to it. If any part of your holiday is not provided as described and this spoils your holiday, we will pay you appropriate compensation (see the important note in the Compensation box). Also, if you buy a local excursion or tour through a uniformed Thomson Holiday Rep, we will pay you reasonable compensation if it is not as advertised on the Thomson Noticeboard or in the Visitors Book or Thomson Resort Guide.

We have taken all reasonable care to make sure that all the services which make up the holidays advertised are provided by efficient, safe and reputable businesses, and that they follow the local and national laws and regulations of the country where they are provided. These are often different from and set standards much lower than those which we are used to in the UK.

"7. Personal Injury 1

This section covers injury, illness or death while you are using the services that we have arranged for you. We have no direct control over the way our suppliers provide their services. But everyone employed or contracted by us or by our suppliers is expected to carry out their duties properly. If they do not carry out their duties properly or at all and that fault results in your injury, illness or death, we may make a payment to you. We will not make any payment if your injury, illness or death was caused by an event or circumstances which that person could not have predicted or avoided even if they had taken all necessary and due care. We will not make any payment if your illness, injury or death was your own fault. If we do make a payment it will be similar to one you would receive under English law in an English court."

15.
First, Mrs Jay claims under clause 6. Her claim here is simplicity itself: by reason of the accident, the excursion was not "as advertised" in the Thomson guide at [271], for the reasons particularised in the Voluntary Particulars of paragraph 16 of her Re-Amended Particulars of Claim, as served during the course of the trial [10I–J]. She is therefore entitled to "reasonable compensation". And this claim does not depend on proof any specific cause for the accident. 

16.
Second, Mrs Jay alleges that Thomson is liable in respect of each of the two alleged causes of the accident, pursuant to the precise terms of clause 7. More particularly: 

(1) As to negligent seamanship, the excursion operator was contracted to Thomson[4] and did not carry out its duties properly, by reason of the negligence of its servant or agent, Captain Zervos.

Mr Wardell QC on behalf of Thomson accepted this principle of liability of Thomson in such circumstances, whilst denying the underlying allegation of negligence.

(2) As to the defective mast, Mrs Jay relies upon the Voluntary Particulars of paragraph 16 of her Re-Amended Particulars of Claim, in order to identify a party contracted to the excursion operator which allegedly did not carry out its duties properly and thereby allegedly triggered Thomson's liability under clause 7.

The claim under clause 6

19.
Mrs Jay seeks to construe clause 6 so as to create strict liability of Thomson for any accident (causing injury) or other mishap, however occurring. The sole requirement is that the holiday is not provided "as described" or the excursion is not "as advertised" – as the case may be. If correct, this construction would be surprising: not only would it create a very wide range of strict liability on the part of Thomson, but also it would render clause 7 entirely superfluous. 

23.
In my judgment, a simpler construction applies, which happens to produce a result similar to that for which Mr Wardell contends. I refer to the opening words of clause 7: 

"This section covers injury, illness or death while you are using the services that we have arranged for you."

Clause 7 then goes on to stipulate that Thomson may [sic] make a payment in certain circumstances, which will be "similar to one you would receive under English law in an English court". That is to say, Thomson will pay damages for personal injuries suffered in certain circumstances. It seems to me that there is then a clear distinction between clause 7, which deals with personal injury, and clause 6, which does not deal with personal injury. Under clause 6, Thomson will pay "reasonable compensation" for spoiled excursions (akin to the spoiled holiday), falling short of personal injury.

24.
This construction also avoids a result that would render clause 7 superfluous. 

25.
I therefore reject Mrs Jay's claim insofar as it rests on clause 6. 

The claim under clause 7: negligent seamanship

44.
In my judgment, there is an obvious alternative explanation. Captain Zervos did see the approaching change in the weather conditions; it would have been difficult for him not to do so. But such an event was not even remotely exceptional and it represented no challenge whatsoever to a boat of Tiami's size and capacity. I accept Mr Cannell's evidence that there was no need to take any pre-emptive action (in particular, to ease the traveller) before the wind arrived. 

45.
It would therefore have been perfectly proper for Captain Zervos to observe the approaching change in the weather conditions, but deliberately decide that no action was necessary at that stage. In my judgment, there is no evidence to demonstrate that he did not follow this proper course. I reject the allegation that he failed to keep a proper lookout. 

Claim in Negligence on the facts dismissed
The claim under clause 7: the defective mast
56.
At paragraph 16 of her Re-Amended Particulars of Claim, Mrs Jay asserted that Gold Coast as manufacturer of Tiami and its mast failed to construct the mast with reasonable care and skill and thereby did not carry out its duties properly, within the meaning of clause 7. Thus far, this allegation was non-contentious, on the basis that the duties in question were owed to the original purchasers of Tiami (in contract) and to anyone who might be injured by reason of the defective mast (in negligence). With respect, the drafting of paragraph 16 of the Re-Amended Particulars of Claim then became somewhat obscure as to the remaining links alleged in order to complete a cause of action under clause 7. However, the intention appears to have been to allege that Gold Coast was contracted to CML, who in turn was the relevant supplier to Thomson. (At paragraph 8 of her Re-Amended Particulars of Claim, Mrs Jay had already pleaded that the "operator" of Tiami was CML and that the "manufacturer and supplier" was Gold Coast). 

57.
 

(1) Under clause 6, Thomson undertakes responsibility for ensuring that services (including excursions) are provided to a reasonable standard.

(2) When read together, clauses 6 and 7 amount to an express obligation on the part of Thomson to provide services with reasonable care and skill. In turn, this obligation is subject to extension under clause 7, whereby Thomson assumes responsibility for the exercise of reasonable care and skill where the relevant services are provided by others.

(3) Clause 7 may therefore be recast as follows: "If there is a failure to [provide] services to a reasonable standard and that failure causes injury, Thomson will be liable to pay compensation."

(4) Clauses 6 and 7 do not on their true construction amount to an express warranty of safety. The obligations of Thomson extend only to the exercise of reasonable care and skill, not to any obligations of strict liability.

On this basis, Mr Wardell submitted that the starting point in the present case was to determine what constituted the provision of services, to be followed by the question whether that provision was made with reasonable care and skill. There was a marked reluctance on his part to enter into the actual words of clause 7.

62.
I do not accept this manner of construction. For example, when tested as to what amounted to the provision of services (especially as to a hypothetical defective glass door in various scenarios in a hotel and then in a boat), Mr Wardell was unable to produce a consistent set of outcomes. At one stage, he felt constrained to concede that Thomson's responsibility would stretch down a contractual supply line without limit; as Mr Dingemans subsequently stated, this was a concession that Mrs Jay would have liked to take up, but could not properly do so, given the wording of clause 7. In general, I do not accept that the express words of clause 7 can be disregarded in the wholesale fashion for which Mr Wardell contended. 

63.
I turn instead to the express words of clause 7 and re-state the words that are relevant for present purposes: 

" … everyone employed or contracted by us or by our suppliers is expected to carry out their duties properly. If they do not carry out their duties properly or at all and that fault results in your injury, illness or death, we may make a payment to you. We will not make any payment if your injury, illness or death was caused by an event or circumstances which that person could not have predicted or avoided even if they had taken all necessary and due care. We will not make any payment if your illness, injury or death was your own fault."

If drafted in more old-fashioned style so as to refer only to "servants or agents of us or our suppliers", I suspect that the construction of these words would have been a deal easier. Thomson would have been accepting liability for failure of duty by both itself and its suppliers (in each case, via those for whom there is vicarious responsibility). This would have followed Regulation 15 to a large extent, if not completely. It is the use of the alternative word "contracted" that introduces the difficulty. In particular and perhaps tellingly, Mrs Jay by her Voluntary Particulars does not allege that any supplier as such (i.e. by its servants or agents) failed to carry out its duties properly. For example, she does not allege that Gold Coast was a supplier, so as to invoke clause 7 immediately. Instead, she seeks to identify a contractor to a supplier and then attach a failure of duty to that contractor. Does clause 7 permit an excursion of this type down a contractual line?

64.
This construction of clause 7 would create an artificial limit. A claimant could identify either a supplier or a contractor to that supplier. But he/she could go no further. In the present case for example, the party undoubtedly in negligent breach of its duties was Gold Coast. If Gold Coast could be identified as a contractor to Thomson's supplier, Mrs Jay could invoke clause 7. But if by historical accident the contractual chain leading to Gold Coast was longer (for example, if Tiami had passed through the hands of successive owners), she could not do so – or at least, she would have to adopt a different route under clause 7. 

65.
Moreover, for failure of duty by a contractor under clause 7, Mrs Jay would wish to rely where necessary on breach of strict contractual duty(-ies) owed to the supplier, aside from any ordinary duty of care owed to those who might be injured by negligence. This route to liability would lead to significant potential extension of Thomson's liability to a claimant, beyond mere provision of the excursion. It would also sit ill with the express use of the word "fault" in clause 7. 

66.
Meanwhile, another construction problem points the other way. Why does clause 7 go on to provide an express exclusion of liability where the party in breach of the duty could not have predicted or avoided the injury in question, even if it had taken all necessary and due care? Why is any exclusion needed if there can be no strict liability in the first place? Admittedly the word "even" is awkward; it might be thought to connote a want of care in the preceding breach of duty. But that preceding breach of duty has already been defined by clause 7 as "[resulting] in your injury, illness or death". In that case, what purpose is served by the exclusion if the breach could only have been breach of a duty of care? (One explanation for this particular problem might be the fact of partial mimicry here of Regulation 15(2) of the 1992 Regulations. But this explanation would not furnish a solution) 

67.
For a coherent construction, it is necessary in my judgment to return to the scope of the word "duties". For present purposes, the context of clause 7 (also clause 6 for that matter) is the provision of services arranged by Thomson. Basically, a holidaymaker can expect proper performance of those services, by the use of reasonable care. This is reinforced by (a) Hone v Going Places Leisure Travel Limited,[15] to the effect that a contract of this type will not create an absolute liability unless there is a (clear) intention to do so; and (b) the use of the word "fault", as already mentioned. And if this is the proper interpretation, the apparent extension to any contractor to a supplier turns out to be self-limiting, because it applies only to those contractors who bore duties of proper performance of the immediate services that constituted the excursion. By this circuitous route, we would in effect be back to the old-fashioned situation described in paragraph 63 above – having simply added recognition of the fact that the provision of services is often "outsourced" to contractors, rather than mere servants or agents. 

68.
I conclude that this is indeed the proper construction of clause 7. In particular, the duties in question are the duties of reasonable care in the provision of the services that constitute the excursion. They do not include strict contractual obligations. This conclusion may or may not correspond to the construction for which Mr Wardell originally contended, but I believe that any such correspondence would be coincidental. 

69.
I mention at this stage the written further submissions that I received on this topic after the trial – produced at my request in order to address the decided holiday cases on defective premises and consider whether they offer any assistance as to strict contractual obligations. I am grateful for those submissions. In the event, I have not gained any significant assistance, for the principal reason that the cases cited all centred on "improper performance", on an accepted basis[16] that the test required a want of care by someone. In none of them was it contended that contractual provisions introduced a strict liability. 

70.
All that said, I do not consider that the answer to this issue of construction actually matters – or at least not in this case. For if the construction of Mr Dingemans on behalf of Mrs Jay is correct, breach of a strict contractual obligation is still subject to the express exclusion based on the assumption that necessary and due care was taken. Subject only to a different burden of proof, the outcome is the same. 

Who is a Supplier for PTR 1992 & contractual purposes?
75.
Turning back to clause 7, who was the supplier to Thomson? Mr Roach stated that it was CML, both in theory (as a result of the corporate structure) and in practice. This was supported by the witness statement of the Thomson resort manager, Helen Richmond [101]. Her statement was admitted under the Civil Evidence Act and therefore does not carry the same weight that would have been carried by her oral evidence. Nevertheless, at paragraphs 4, 5 and 8, she speaks only of CML. There is also the document at [416-8], created by Ms Richmond on 10 February 2001 and naming CML as the supplier. And finally, the receipt at [277] is consistent with CML as supplier. In the result and notwithstanding vagueness elsewhere in the documentation, I am satisfied that CML was the supplier of the excursion to Thomson – or at least a supplier. 

76.
In her Voluntary Particulars [10A], Mrs Jay then adopts two approaches: 

(1) Tiami Cruises Limited was a supplier, together with CML; alternatively

(2) CML was the sole supplier.

77.
There is a great attraction to Mrs Jay if she can establish that Tiami Cruises Limited was a supplier to Thomson. For as it happens, Tiami Cruises Limited had owned Tiami from new and had purchased it direct from the manufacturer, Gold Coast: see again the certificate of ownership at [346]. In those circumstances, Mrs Jay could easily say that Gold Coast was contracted by a supplier to Thomson and had failed to carry out its duties properly. She could then submit that the requirements of clause 7 are satisfied. (In this connection, I note the point already made at paragraph 63 above: there is no allegation that Gold Coast was itself a supplier, so as to invoke clause 7 immediately. It was not a supplier of the services that constituted the excursion) 

78.
I shall consider the two approaches in turn. 

79.
Tiami Cruises Limited as a supplier 

Mrs Jay divides this approach into two further parts, as identified at sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) in her Voluntary Particulars. At (b), she does not expressly identify Tiami Cruises Limited as a supplier jointly with CML, but she probably does so by implication and in any event the point does not matter.

80.
I deal with sub-paragraph (b) first. It alleges simply that Tiami was "an integral part" of the excursion, that it was owned by Tiami Cruises Limited and that Tiami Cruises Limited was therefore a supplier of the excursion. Attractive though this approach would be towards producing a favourable outcome for Mrs Jay, I cannot accept it. Tiami was the supplier of the boat to CML. It was still CML who supplied the excursion. By way of analogy, we know that many commercial aircraft are leased to their respective airlines. The leasing company does not supply the flights to the passengers, or even to the tour operators who might block book sections or even charter the whole plane. And I do not consider that the corporate proximity of Tiami Cruises Limited to CML alters this position. 

81.
I turn to sub-paragraph (a). As there pleaded, the closest we come to a written contract between Thomson and its supplier is the document at [279] – being for a later period, but agreed to be representative of an earlier document. It is correctly pleaded that Thomson's supplier was there described simply as "Denis Roach, Tall Ships". Given that this was a trading name which embraced the entire operation of Coastal Holdings Limited, Mrs Jay contends that the resulting "contract to provide the excursion" was made with both CML and Tiami Cruises Limited. Absent any evidence at all about the precise identity of the underlying contracting party, I consider that this approach might have force. In particular, if a number of companies authorise an agent to use a trading name indiscriminately in order to describe the operations of them all, the individual companies cannot complain if individual contractual liability follows. However, any such outcome must yield to the facts of the case, if the individual acting under the trading name does sufficiently identify the relevant principal. Moreover, it must be recalled that the contract in question here is the contract with Thomson, not a contract with Mrs Jay; it is Thomson's knowledge and intentions that matter. On the evidence just identified at paragraph 75 above, I am constrained to find that Thomson knew that they were dealing with CML and intended to deal with CML. And I do not feel able to lift the veil of the corporate group beyond CML. 

82.
Accordingly, I find CML was not only a supplier of the excursion to Thomson, but also the sole supplier. 

83.
CML as sole supplier 

Mrs Jay then correctly identifies Tiami Cruises Limited as a contractor to CML, for the provision of Tiami by lease/charter, for the known purpose of being used to provide passenger excursions.

84.
The next step is for Mrs Jay to identify a breach of duty by Tiami Cruises Limited. She does this by a series of propositions: 

(1) Tiami Cruises Limited was acting in the course of business.

(2) If English law were to apply, sections 9(2) and 9(5) of the Supply of Goods and Services Act 1982 would respectively impose implied contractual terms of satisfactory quality and fitness for purpose.

(3) In the absence of contrary evidence, foreign law (viz. the law of Barbados) is assumed to be the same as English law.

(4) On that basis, Tiami Cruises Limited was subject to those implied contractual obligations and was in breach of those strict obligations, by reason of the defective mast. (I emphasise here the assumption for present purposes that the word "duties" in clause 7 does include strict contractual obligations)

85.
This reasoning emerged only in the course of Mr Dingemans' closing submissions. When invited to reply on this particular point, Mr Wardell (understandably) was not in a position to address either the applicability of the assumption or the content of Barbados law, but he did identify an immediate counter-argument, arising from the following specific passage in clause 7: 

"We will not make any payment if your injury, illness or death was caused by an event or circumstances which that person could not have predicted or avoided even if they had taken all necessary and due care."

Mr Wardell asserted that the defective mast was clearly a latent defect which could not have been detected even with the use of all necessary and due care. 
All necessary and due care
88.
In the event, I do not consider it necessary to determine the issue, given my conclusion on the single further issue that remains – as now follows. I therefore say nothing further about it. 

89.
Latent defect 

I repeat once more the relevant passage in clause 7:

"We will not make any payment if your injury, illness or death was caused by an event or circumstances which that person could not have predicted or avoided even if they had taken all necessary and due care."

92.
Faced with a joint statement that the defect would not have been detectable as part of a routine visual inspection, Mr Dingemans and Mr Dignum must allege that an obligation arose at some stage to perform more than a mere routine inspection. In their written submissions, they did this. 
94.
Be that as it may, I can see no warrant for imposing onto either CML or Tiami Cruises Limited any obligation to undertake such a major inspection. The clear inference is that Tiami had been operating without problem ever since its date of construction and there is no suggestion of any relevant defect (or symptom) at any time. I repeat the fact that there has never been any allegation on behalf of Mrs Jay of any want of maintenance. 

95.
Moreover, Mr Cannell at para.6.14 only ever said that "a skilled yacht surveyor might possibly be able to detect a fault in the mast by careful inspection and tap sounding …". And indeed the same paragraph goes on heavily to qualify even that possibility.

98.
In those circumstances, there is no liability of Thomson under clause 7, even on the assumption that the word "duties" in that clause does include strict contractual duties. If that assumption is removed, it is clear from all the above that was no want of care by any relevant party; accordingly, a much shorter route would lead to the same conclusion. 

Conclusion

100.
It follows from all the above that the claim must be dismissed. 

Piper v TUI UK 

Epsom County Court

District Judge Letts 

7th November 2007

Facts: The Defendant tour operator supplied the Claimant and her young children with a package holiday to the Costa Del Sol, Spain, on or around 28th May 2006. Within a couple of days of arrival  at the Hotel the Claimant and her children fell ill with symptoms of diarrhoea and vomiting which were later diagnosed as gastroenteritis. The Claimant alleged that she had been told by the Hotel medical staff that the ‘illness’ had been present at the Hotel since the beginning of April 2006. She claimed that the Defendant owed a duty to warn her, and other holiday makers, in advance of the holiday of the presence of the illness so as to allow them to make an informed decision as to whether to travel. The Defendant disclosed a series of reports prepared by independent health and safety experts which indicated that the overall levels of hygiene at the Hotel had been good and that the first reported case of illness occurred at the beginning of May, less than 4 weeks before the Claimant’s arrival. The Defendant also disclosed graphs, based upon reported cases, which suggested that levels of illness at the Hotel since the beginning of May had been sporadic and, whilst there had been some days where reported cases were high, overall illness had been at a relatively low level. There was also evidence, in the form of contemporaneous newspaper reports, that the entire resort had been affected by a viral illness in the summer of 2006.

Held: There was no evidence to suggest that the illness at the Hotel had been caused by any fault on the part of the Defendant. What evidence there was indicated the contrary, namely that hygiene standards had been reasonably good. The medical evidence was not clear on whether the illness had been caused by a viral or bacterial infection, but on the balance of probabilities, having regard to the other evidence, this was a virus which had been spread through respiration and contact with surfaces. The level of the illness at the hotel prior to the Claimant’s arrival was low and therefore the Defendant did not owe a duty to warn the Claimant or to cancel the holiday. 

Bishop v TUI (T/A Thomson Holidays)

12 February 2007
Bow County Court

Deputy District Judge Desai

Facts

This was one of a number of separate claims made by guests staying at the 4-star Hotel Riu Miramar in Bulgaria. On the second day of the Claimant’s holiday, a dam burst in a mountain range surrounding the resort, causing a large amount of water to run down into the hotel. The floodwaters reached a level of 1 foot. The Defendant took the decision to evacuate its customers and place them in a separate resort until further notice. The Claimant was provided with a room in the 3-star Hotel Riu Viva. 

Two days later the Defendant provided customers with a standard letter which stated that the Riu Miramar was once again ‘ready to receive guests’ and the Claimant decided to return.

Upon her return to the hotel, the Claimant found that a large number of its facilities and services were still being restored. All of the swimming pools were cleaned and furniture from the hotel lobby was drying outside in the sunshine. In particular, the Claimant complained that she was placed in a room on the fourth floor of the hotel and, since the elevator had been damaged by the flood, she was required to use the stairs. This caused her particular difficulty because she was recovering from recent surgery to her spine. She was told that no other rooms were available. During the night there was no water or electricity in the hotel bedrooms because the swimming pools were being cleaned. The facilities and services were gradually restored throughout the remainder of the holiday.

The Claimant asked to be returned to the other resort, or to be flown home. Both requests were refused. She sought a refund of the full cost of the holiday (minus the flight component) and general damages for distress and loss of enjoyment.

Held

The Claimant could not complain about the manner of the evacuation nor the fact that she had been placed in accommodation of an inferior standard to the original hotel. The Defendant acted reasonably in the extraordinary circumstances facing it at the time.

With regard to the return to the original hotel, the Claimant had failed to prove that the Defendant had not acted with reasonable skill and care in its attempt to restore the hotel to full functionality, nor could she establish that the facilities could have been repaired more quickly than they were. 

The Defendant was not in breach of contract in placing the Claimant in a room on the fourth floor. At the time that she booked the holiday the Claimant had stated that she had no medical condition and this was recorded on her booking invoice. Forseeability had to be judged at the time of formation of the contract and the Claimant could not establish that the Defendant knew or should have known about her spinal condition.

The other matters about which the Claimant complained were minor. The furniture drying outside may have affected the aesthetic appearance of the hotel, but it did not have any material effect on the Claimant’s enjoyment of her holiday. The fact that the Claimant was without water at night was unfortunate, but the Defendant had to clean and refill the pools and it was more convenient to do this at night than during the day.

The Claim was dismissed.
COLE v DAVIS-GILBERT & ORS (2007)

CA (Civ Div) (Sir Igor Judge (President QB), Laws LJ, Scott Baker LJ) 1/3/2007 

Where an individual had stepped into an exposed hole on a village green and broken her leg, the organisation responsible for the digging of the hole had neither been negligent nor breached its duty of care as it had previously sealed the hole and it was the unexplained removal of the infill, not the infill itself that was the primary causative factor in the accident.

The appellant (C) appealed against the findings of a judge that the respondent owners of a village green (D) were not liable for an accident suffered by C. The fifth respondent organisation (B) cross-appealed against the findings of the judge that it had breached its duty of care in respect of C's accident. B had been responsible for the organisation of a Mayday fete at the village green. As part of the fete, a Mayday pole was placed into a hole on the green that had been dug for that purpose. At the end of the last fete to be held on the green, the hole was filled with soil and stones and subsequently with a bung. Two years later, the hole had become exposed and C, while walking across the green, stepped into it and broke her leg. C brought proceedings against D and B. The judge held that B had breached its duty of care to C as it had not taken adequate steps to ensure that the hole had been filled in properly. The judge found that D were not liable on the basis that they could have reasonably assumed that the hole had been sealed.

HELD: (1) There was no evidential basis for the judge's conclusion that B had breached its duty of care to C. On the evidence, it appeared that the hole only became exposed shortly before the accident. There was no evidence as to how it became exposed but it was most likely to have been the actions of children playing on the green. The judge failed to consider the issue of causation and whether the infill was a causative factor. The true cause was plainly the removal of the infill. If the hole had been left unsealed after the fete, it would be arguable that B was liable but the hole was not so left. The hole became a hazard in uncertain circumstances and it was therefore not possible to establish that the accident was caused by any negligence on the part of B. (2) The judge had been correct to conclude that D were not liable for C's accident. There was a danger in setting too high a standard of care as it could lead to inhibiting consequences, namely the reduction in or prohibition of traditional activities on village greens.

Appeal dismissed, cross-appeal allowed.

Phillips v First Choice

Medway County Court

7 February 2007
Deputy District Judge Beech

Facts

1. The Defendant provided the Claimant, and 3 others, with a package holiday to the island of Margarita, in Venezuala, between 13th and 27th October 2005. The full cost of the holiday was £2,828.80

2. During the course of the holiday, on 23rd October 2005, the Claimant booked, and paid for, a ‘Canaima Camp’ excursion.

3. The excursion involved a trek through rainforest and, ‘weather permitting’, a flight in to the Angel Falls Gorge.

4. The Claimant alleged that the flight had not flown into the gorge, in breach of the package holiday contract. He claimed that the air hostess on board had stated that the plane was ‘too big’ to fly into the gorge. He claimed that another excursion group had flown in to the gorge earlier the same day and accordingly that the failure of his plane to fly in to the gorge could not be attributed to the weather.

5. The Defendant relied upon the ‘excursion planner’ brochure which it alleged the Claimant had been provided with, in resort. The brochure terms and conditions specifically stated that First Choice were acting only as agents for the excursion provider, Iberoservice, whose logo was clearly displayed on the front of the brochure and on the ticket issued.

6. Alternatively, the Defendant claimed that the plane upon which the Claimant had travel was the same model that had been used for the excursion for many years and that the weather conditions in the gorge were extremely volatile, thereby explaining why a different group had been able to fly in on the same day.

7. In evidence, the Claimant denied ever having received the excursion planner. He produced a further single-page photocopy document which he claimed he had been provided by the representatives in resort. This document did not contain any terms and conditions, nor did it refer to Iberoservice.

Held

8. The Defendant had been acting as an agent for the local supplier when it sold the excursion to the Claimant. The Claimant’s contract was with Iberoservice and the Claim would be dismissed.

Comment

9. The author of this case note has not been lazy in his note of the judgment. The deputy district judge appeared to have made up his mind from the outset and accepted the Defendant’s skeleton argument without wishing to hear further submissions. The oral judgment was delivered in less than 30 seconds! In particular, the judge failed to appreciate that if the photocopy document provided to the Claimant in resort did not include any terms or conditions, or indeed any other indication that the contract was with a local supplier, the Defendant may have been liable as an agent for an undisclosed principal. All in all, this was a very lucky escape for the tour operator and reinforces the importance of ensuring that all documentation provided to holidaymakers includes or incorporates the terms and conditions upon which the Defendant seeks to rely.

Barker v TUI

Birmingham CC

22 January 2007

HHJ Anthony
The Claimant went on holiday to Tunisia. Whilst there he noticed the hotel smelt oddly and he was told it was chemicals used in the air-conditioning to keep down the pests. He was an asthmatic and found the smell uncomfortable but got on with his holiday. Later (second week of holiday) he complained of cockroaches in his room. The rep. promised to deal with it and whilst he was out for the day, his room was fumigated with a commercially available anti-pest spray. On returning to his room he found the smell so offensive and wheeze-inducing that he and his wife (also unluckily an asthmatic) asked to be moved. They were moved to another room. A couple of days later having moved back to their original room the whole of their floor was sprayed with the anti-pest spray. This time (2 or so days before departure home) the Claimant succumbed to a severe, acute asthmatic attack accompanied with vomiting and diarrhoea. 

C claimed damages from the tour operator on the grounds that they knew he was an asthmatic and should have prevented the second spraying of his room. 

The Defendant denied liability on the basis that the spray used on both occasions was unexceptional and commercially available; pests had to be kept under control and in nay event neither they nor the hotel had any knowledge of the Claimant’s asthma. Furthermore, even if the Claimant had mentioned asthma it had been mentioned only conversationally and such a mention in passing was of no contractual effect and not capable of creating a duty on their part to afford the Claimant any extra protection (e.g. Kemp v Intasun 1988 CA).

[image: image3.wmf]
Giving judgment for the Claimant the judge concluded that C had told D’s representative in forceful terms after the first spraying of insecticide that he had had a minor adverse asthmatic reaction to the spray which was more than sufficient to put them and the hotel on notice that a second spraying of his room should not be undertaken. Thus, there was a breach of duty to exercise reasonable care on the part of the Hotel and the Tour Operator and C was entitled to damages.

PSLA: £5,000.00 (8 weeks illness); Loss of Bargain (Half the Holiday Cost); Loss of Enjoyment £500.
LOW VELOCITY IMPACTS

SAMANTHA ROSS v VIVIAN VON SCHELLING

Judge:



His Honour Judge Cowell

Court:



Central London County Court

Date:



23rd January 2007

1. This is a case where the Defendant entertained considerable suspicion as to whether or not the Claimant did suffer any kind of injury when, on 3rd October 2004 on the Sunday afternoon, she was on the number 16 bus and it braked suddenly and just failed to avoid colliding with a car driven by the Defendant from a parking space, the matter being the fault of the Defendant and not the bus driver.

2. The Claimant was on the bus on the back bench downstairs with her 3 year old daughter to the left. During the braking and collision she was thrown forward and back like the bus driver; but he suffered no injury. She brings a claim which is described in the solicitors’ letter in a broad way as the sustaining of a whiplash injury to the back and neck. That was on 3rd October 2004. She caught another bus home with her daughter. I am satisfied that the driver immediately afterwards got out of his seat and addressed everyone if anyone had been injury or needed an ambulance and then got out to ask the Defendant car driver and then got back in the bus. Passengers needed to get off. The driver found a piece of paper having opened the doors for everyone. Exchanged names and addresses. One passenger remained and she gave evidence; Miss Graham Douglas. She said, having in mind responsibility for the collision, that she was happy to give her name and address on the footing that he had been driving properly. I find that he had been. It was the fault of the Defendant.

3. The following day, 4th October 2004, the Claimant went to see her G.P. and it is clear she went in the morning, she says for half an hour. She was given Ibuprofen gel to rub in and tablets (50g). The notes made by the G.P. say whiplash injury, passenger in bus accident [quotes whole note]. The next note is dated 25th October 2004 [quotes the whole note]. Nothing of relevance to the accident. She didn’t go to the G.P. again until 22nd April 2005. The notes read “whiplash, still occasional. Doesn’t want physio at present.” Codydramol prescribed with Ibuprofen. To return for review if physio referral or if not settling.” The Claimant said in effect the whole thing settled.

4. My finding is that, although noone else was injured, on the balance of probabilities the discomfort that the Claimant suffered stemmed from the incident on 3rd October 2004. I also should say that I have the impression that the Claimant was exaggerating a number of things – the speed of the bus – it was an unpleasant incident especially with a 3 year old daughter. She felt aggrieved. She feels the bus was going too fast. She said she took the registration of the Defendant’s car. Atmosphere of suspicion that the Defendant was aware of the incident and she wanted to make the most of it and took the car number of the party whom she knew was the party to blame and took it to a solicitor. Element of exaggeration. I find there was an injury suffered. It is right to point out that she is not a particularly sophisticated lady. I think that she has been upset that her bona fides is under attack in this case and it is right to say there are a number of inconsistencies between the original case she gave and the corrections which she properly made to her witness statement when giving evidence. I am not inclined to accept that she suffered any problem other than a whiplash injury occasioned by being moved forward and backwards. Although it was mentioned in the letter [12th October 2004] it was something which happened to the neck rather than the back. Essentially it was a soft tissue injury which cleared up. Dr. Metcalfe didn’t see her until 9 months and Mr. Spigelman, 2 years after the accident. It was a soft tissue injury and there was nothing for them to investigate on the body of the Claimant. As invariably happens the accounts vary somewhat in detail. That is not what they are for. They are not there to comment on the account unless it is relevant to their expertise. I notice Dr. Metcalf says he ‘believed’ the Claimant which he should not do just as counsel should not do so. It is not the kind of case where the medical expert can say looking at the structure of the spine it is impossible that such and such is the case; they are of limited assistance. I attach importance to what was said to the G.P. On the basis of what the experts were told, it was agreed that the neck injury was over between 5 and 6 weeks and they refer to a back injury which I am not satisfied occurred. It appears that the neck was still troubling the Claimant in April 2005. 

5. Furthermore I should say that the nature of the incident which involves some braking by a bus and impact is just the sort of thing which would injure a neck rather than cause an injury further down the back (of which there is not mention in the G.P. notes). The significance of the Defendant’s witnesses is that only the slightest injury could have been caused. Fortunately nothing caused to anyone else. When it comes to quantum it seems to me that the guidelines on page 32 of the JSB Guidelines come into clear application. Minor neck injuries. Bearing in mind that it all settled after April 2005 I think the appropriate figure is £1,100.


Costs Capping & Multi-Party Illness Claims

What is Cost Capping?
Cost capping is the process whereby the Defendant (invariably) applies to the Court at an early stage for an order limiting in advance the costs recoverable by the Claimant. The Court prospectively limits the extent to which the parties incur costs and the “cap” becomes the presumptive amount recoverable. Thus:

· costs are prevented from spiraling out of control;

· the parties know in advance the likely level of the costs risk if unsuccessful or recovery if successful;

· the litigation can be managed by each party proportionately;

· satellite costs litigation (itself expensive) is minimized;

In Various Ledward Claimants v Kent & Medway HA [2003] EWHC 2551 (QB), Hallett J. said:

"10 … I am very concerned that without my intervention the costs in this particular case will spiral out of control, if they have not done so already. I intend to do what I can in the time remaining to ensure that they remain proportionate …

11 I am satisfied that this case is a classic example of litigation, driven by the lawyer acting for the claimants, in which there is a real risk that costs have been and will be incurred unnecessarily and unreasonably …

In Southam and Others v JMC Holidays (otherwise known as the non-Aguamar case) (March 2003, Birmingham CC unreported) HHJ MacDuff QC noted:

“This case only goes to reinforce my view that it is becoming ever more necessary for the courts to control the expenditure of costs before they are incurred. The sooner the rules provide for budget costs, or authorised costs, or some form of predictable costs, to do away with after the event assessments, the better it will be for all concerned…” 
Why Multi-Party Illness Litigation?
Capping has featured recently in “package holiday” cases where hundreds of consumers have been stricken with gastric illness. It is not difficult to see why.

· Multi-Claimant actions are increasingly common - such actions can involve up to 6,000 individual claims.

· These groups are rampant in holiday, mass illness outbreaks.

· Each individual claim would be hopelessly uneconomic on its own. There is safety in numbers.

· The uneconomic nature of individual cases could lead to Claimants with arguable claims being left without remedy - inconsistent with modern concepts of access to justice.

Thus “holiday” litigation has spawned a brand of group illness action. This development has resulted in escalating costs. Without careful control it is easy to see how coordinating a large number of tiny claims creates unnecessary duplication of time and effort, unfocused and wasteful time management, inadequate identification of issues all compounded by a proliferation of expert witnesses and endless medical reports. It would not be unusual to have an action brought by 200 Claimants, the claims averaging a value of £2,500 (a potential total of £500,000) in which the predicted costs of the Claimants amount to £2.5 million before conditional fee uplift). Economies of scale in this realistic example are not evident.

A Balancing Exercise
Cost capping in holiday claims is one of the best examples of the overriding objective in action. It is not a punishment to be meted out to the advantage of one party over the other. It is an attempt to balance the interests of those with genuine, small grievances with the interests of those targeted by such grievances. 

In Dawson v First Choice Holidays & Flights Ltd [2007 – 12 March 5BM 150976] HHJ MacDuff QC said:

“These are cases which would never have been pursued in the days before “no win no fee” arrangements could be made. Would someone with a day or two of diarrhoea on holiday … have gone to his solicitor … and asked to pursue the holiday company for damages? Would he have done so if he had known that his potential costs liability to his own solicitor (never mind the opposition if he lost) would be £7,500 (1/200th of £1.5 millions)? Would even the Claimant with more severe symptoms (value £15,000… have done so if he had been told that he was required to pay money on account of costs which would mount to £7500 and costs to the other side if he lost? 

However, those with modest claims will not be denied access to a remedy (as part of a large group) merely because their costs are regulated in advance by the Court. On the contrary, group actions provide the mechanism by which such Claimants have access to justice. Carrying no costs risk they should not be treated to “Rolls Royce” levels of attention at which they would flinch if liable to pay the bill. As Brooke LJ said in King v Telegraph Group Ltd. [2005] 1 WLR 2282:
“… it would be very much better for the court to exercise control over costs in advance, rather than to wait reactively until after the case is over and the costs are being assessed.”

The source of cost capping
The power to impose a costs cap on one party or both is now taken for granted. Express provision for it in procedural rules is not easy to find.  In AB v Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust [2003] EWHC 1034 (QB) Gage J stated that the court's general powers of case management were sufficiently wide to encompass the making of a costs capping order in group litigation. Such a power is probably derived from CPR 3.2(m) which gives the Court power to: 

"take any other step or make any other order for the purpose of managing the case and furthering the overriding objective."

From little acorns do mighty oaks grow.

Summary
The Court of Appeal drafted a set of principles to be applied for costs capping (in personal injury claims) before giving judgment in Willis v Nicolson [2007] EWCA Civ 199.  They were not published! Buxton LJ considered it inappropriate for the Court to undertake this role – now consigned to the Civil Procedure Rules Committee from whom we await further guidance.

It is tolerably clear from the recent proliferation of costs capping orders (in holiday illness claims) that where the issues in an action are straightforward the court will exercise its pre-emptive case management powers to limit costs generally or a particular type of costs. Application for such an order should be made at an early a stage in the litigation but the Court can act on its own initiative if the costs appear in the Allocation Questionnaire to present an affront to justice. Such orders are not limited to “exceptional cases”. The capping process entails an order being made in principle with the level of any cap being set later by a costs judge.

The unstated ambition of Courts and Rule makers is that suitably judged imposition of costs limits will exert more proportionate costs discipline on those managing group litigation which self-regulation will then put a stop to excessive costs projections. 
See also: The Torremolinos Beach Club Litigation 2007 (Abbot & 660 Others v TUI and Others) where the imposition of tight costs capping limits on the application of the Defendant tour operators exerted significant downwards pressure on the overall settlements achieved by the Defendants in a group action involving 661 Claimants.
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JURISDICTION – APPLICABLE LAW

When is it appropriate to dis-apply the presumptive law of the tort?

Prince v Prince

22nd June 2007, His Honour Judge Inglis.

 (Lincoln County Court).

The Facts

C and D are married British nationals domiciled in England. In July 2003 they went to France on a touring holiday. On 31st July 2003 Mr P was driving, and Mrs P was a front seat passenger, in their car, travelling through Quimper. They reached a roundabout, and Mr P stopped the car. Another driver, a French national, M. T, drove into the rear of the stationary car. As a result, Mrs P suffered soft tissue injuries to her cervical and upper thoracic spine, and psychological sequelae.

The Claim

On 21st July 2006 Mrs P’s solicitors issued proceedings out of Manchester County Court seeking damages of between £5,000 and £15,000. Mrs P contended that, although the English courts have jurisdiction to hear the claim (because Mr P is domiciled within the jurisdiction of England and Wales), French law applies pursuant to the presumption contained in s.11 of the Private International Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1995. 

The Law

A quick reminder: s.11 of the Act provides that the general rule is that the applicable law is the law of the country in which the events constituting the tort or delict in question occur, but s.12 allows for the rule to be displaced where it is substantially more appropriate for the applicable law to be the law of another country, in the light of all the circumstances, and in particular factors relating to the parties, to any of the events which constitute the tort or delict in question or to any of the circumstances or consequences of those events. 
Under the French loi badinter Mr P would be liable to Mrs P in relation to the accident, because under that provision, in road traffic cases a Claimant may bring proceedings either against the negligent driver or against the driver of the car in which he or she was travelling at the time of the accident. 

The Judgment at first instance

At a preliminary hearing on 23rd February 2007 District Judge Smith, sitting at Worksop County Court, ordered that the law under which the claim would be heard would be French rather than English. The Defendant appealed the order on the grounds that the judge had failed to pay sufficient heed to the fact that both parties to proceedings were English nationals domiciled in England, and the consequences of the accident were largely felt in England; and had given too much weight to the fact that the other driver, who was not a party to proceedings, was a French national. Counsel for Mr P relied heavily on the following obiter dicta of Waller LJ in the Court of Appeal in Harding v Wealands [2005] 1 All ER 415:

“…I would fully understand, having regard to the settled relationship that Mr Harding and Ms Wealands were in, that if they had been on holiday in France when this accident occurred England might have been found to be substantially more appropriate and to have displaced French law…”

The Judgment on appeal

The Circuit Judge upheld the decision at first instance. He endorsed the District Judge’s general approach of stacking up the factors connecting the tort with France, and those connecting it with England, and weighing them against each other to determine which carried more weight overall. He went on to accept the submission made on behalf of Mr P that the reference in s.12 to ‘parties’ must refer to the parties to proceedings and not the parties to the tort, but held that he was entitled to take into account the nationality of the other party to the tort as being an important factor falling within the ‘all the circumstances’ criterion. He also found that the District Judge was entitled to have regard to the difficulties Mrs P might face if he found that English law displaced the presumption; if English law applied, the claim as against Mr P must fail, and she would be left in the position of suing M. T in France, which, in the context of a fast track claim, might not be economical. Taking all of this into account, the presumption was not displaced and the applicable law remained that of France. 

Clive Dawson & Kimberley Dawson v Ian Broughton.

31 July 2007 Manchester County Court :HHJ Holman (reported on lawtel).

The claimants claimed damages for personal injury against the defendant and the first claimant alone claimed on behalf of the estate of his partner under the Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1934 and the Fatal Accidents Act 1976. They had been passengers in a car driven by the defendant in France when it was involved in a collision with another vehicle. Primary liability was not in dispute but an issue arose as to contributory negligence in respect of the wearing of seat belts. A preliminary issue was tried as to whether English or French law was to be applied. It was a significant issue since in France, under the Loi Badinter, the failure to wear a seat belt did not result in any reduction in damages. Under the Private International Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1995 section 11(1), the general starting point was that French law applied. However, the effect of section 14(3)(b) of the Act was that matters of evidence and procedure were to be determined by English law. Therefore, 2 questions arose: 

(a) whether the Loi Badinter was substantive or procedural law; if it was procedural, English law (including the law of contributory negligence) applied because English law governed all matters of procedure;

(b) even if the Loi Badinter was substantive should French law be displaced under section 12 and English law applied instead.

The Claimants submitted that (1) the Loi Badinter was substantive and therefore French law applied. They argued that contributory negligence was firmly rooted in issues of liability, causation and blameworthiness and was substantive, notwithstanding that it might result in a reduction in damages; (2) if the Loi Badinter was found to be substantive, the general rule should not be displaced under s.12 since the collision occurred in France, the other driver was French and they had moved to and settled in France.

The Judge concluded that contributory negligence was relevant to the scope of a defendant's liability for a victim's injuries and the identification of actionable damage. Therefore, contributory negligence was a substantive issue and it was incorrect to treat it simply as part of the assessment of damages. In the instant case, the issue of causation was inextricably linked with the issue of contributory negligence. It was wholly inappropriate to regard contributory negligence simply as a matter of quantification. On that basis, the general rule operated and French law applied. Nonetheless, under section 12 the court had to consider all the circumstances and be satisfied that it was substantially more appropriate that English law should apply. The general rule (French law) was not to be dislodged easily and the exercise of discretion required a balancing exercise. Using "substantially" in its ordinary meaning, it was not enough if the scales tipped only marginally in favour of one party. In the instant case, the factors connecting the parties to England were stronger than those connecting them to France. The fact that the accident happened in France did not assist the Claimants because the discretion could only arise if the accident occurred other than in England and Wales. The involvement of the French driver was irrelevant because he was not to blame. It was relevant but not determinative that the Claimants continued to live in France. It was also relevant that they had chosen to bring their action in England, and it was of note that wearing a seat belt was a matter of custom in England with criminal penalties for failing to do so. It was inherently inequitable for the Claimants to submit to the English jurisdiction, but then seek to avoid the disadvantage of the consequences of contributory negligence that might flow if it was established that the deceased had not been wearing a seat belt, particularly when that was closely intertwined with issues of causation of injury. That was plainly a relevant circumstance for the purposes of section 12. On balance, therefore, it was held to be substantially more appropriate to displace the general rule and apply English law instead of French law.

It seems obvious from this case that what struck the judge as unfair was the idea that a Claimant should chose the English courts in which to sue but nonetheless seek to take advantage of and apply French law (the presumptive law of the road traffic accident) which in the circumstances did not give any scope for a partial defence of contributory negligence. One suspects that the Claimants hoped for higher English damages without risking a deduction for contribution – the best of both worlds. So one can see why the judge thought and concluded as he did. Even so, there are a number of interesting points that arise out of this decision. The first is that a ruling under section 12 to displace the presumptive applicable law is not in any true sense the exercise of a judicial discretion rather it is the exercise of judgment on a permitted statutory basis. Secondly, it will be remembered that the Claimants were passengers in the negligent driver’s car and he (the defendant) was domiciled in England. Thus the Claimants were not only perfectly entitled to sue him in England they were supposed to do so under Article 2 of Regulation 44/2001 on jurisdiction
. Thirdly, having reminded himself that French law should not be displaced easily merely on the tipping of the scales, yet his conclusion was that “on balance” it was substantially more appropriate to apply English law.

CONSUMER CREDIT ACT 1974 – SECTION 75

THE CONSUMERS’ FRIEND!

OFT v LLOYDS TSB (2007 HL)

Consumers often appreciate that credit card use carries the advantage of a potential right of recourse against the card issuer should the supplier breach his obligations relating to the supply contract. The question that arose in Office of Fair Trading v Lloyds TSB Bank plc and others was whether this right against the credit card company extends to the use of credit cards in foreign transactions. The Office of Fair Trading ("OFT"), acting in the interests of consumers, maintains that it does. Lloyds TSB Bank plc and Tesco Personal Finance Ltd, credit card issuers and representatives of the UK credit card industry, maintain the contrary.
Lord Mance in the course of his Opinion stated that there was nothing in sections 11, 12 or 75(1) purporting to legislate extra−territorially in relation to the supplier or the supply transaction financed by the credit agreement. To impose on United Kingdom card issuers a liability to United Kingdom card holders by reference to liabilities arising under a foreign supply transaction was not, he said, axiomatically to legislate extra−territorially. However, the card issuing appellants in the case contended for, and Gloster J. at first instance accepted, a limitation excluding from section 75(1) supply transactions with the following characteristics:

"(1) the contract [between the debtor and the supplier] was made wholly outside the United Kingdom, or (if not) the acts of offer and acceptance were done partly within and partly outside the United Kingdom; and

(2) the contract was governed by a foreign law; and

(3) the goods were delivered, or services supplied outside the United Kingdom, or the goods were despatched outside the United Kingdom for delivery within the United Kingdom."

The credit card companies submitted that the implications, if section 75(1) applies to overseas transactions, are "startling and readily apparent", in that it would make United Kingdom card issuers the potential guarantors of some 29 million foreign suppliers, with whom they would not have any direct contractual relations. Gloster J accepted this argument. The House of Lords did not because it was one that depended on today's market whereas The 1974 Act had to be construed against the background of the market as it existed and was understood and foreseen at the time of the Crowther Report and the passing of the Act in 1974. The House of Lord concluded that the factors which led the Crowther Committee to recommend the imposition on card issuers of a liability reflecting suppliers' liability to debtors, all apply as much to overseas as to domestic supply transactions − if not more so. In relation to overseas transactions, there would be

likely to be an even greater discrepancy between the card holder's ability to pursue suppliers on the one hand and the ease with which card issuers could obtain redress through the contractual and commercial ties which Crowther contemplated would link them and suppliers. Card issuers' ability to bear irrecoverable losses and so "spread the burden" exists in relation to both overseas and domestic transactions.

The conclusion of the House of Lords was that there was nothing in the 1974 Act to introduce or require any further limitation in the territorial scope of section 75(1), other than that the credit agreement must be a United Kingdom credit agreement. The argument that section 75(1) was limited in application to domestic supply transactions and so inapplicable to overseas supply transactions was rejected.

The same conclusion was reached in the personal injury case of Grove v Amex Europe Ltd.
 Mr. Grove paid for his French hotel accommodation with his American Express (credit) Card. Whilst staying at the hotel in France he had an accident and was injured which he attributed to the failure on the part of the Hotel to exercise reasonable skill and care in the provision of the Hotel facilities and services. He sued Amex who in turn joined the Hotel company as a third party. A preliminary issue was tried as to whether section 75(1) extended to the supply of services overseas and the judge ruled that it did – which ruling has now 4 years later been underpinned by the House of Lords.
CRIMINAL ASIDES
The Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2007
The Regulations, which come into force on 6th April 2008, and which implement the Unfair Commercial Practices Directive
 will supersede the statutory regime under the Trade Descriptions Act 1968 and the Consumer Protection Act 1987, and it is anticipated that in the years to come most prosecutions involving tour operators and retailers will fall within this new regime. The new regime conforms to an increasingly familiar pattern in circumstances where the generating legislation comes from the European Commission. Broad, sweeping criminal offences are created, accompanied by a dearth of detailed categorisation or definition. Much is left to the perceived good sense of prosecuting authorities and the practical application of undefined standards by tribunals of fact (i.e. magistrates and juries). It is likely that as these regulations are applied on a case by case basis it will be the English courts that assume the responsibility for laying down the substance of what is required in order to justify a successful prosecution. At the same time, the ambition seems to be to create a generally applicable and overarching scheme of offences (on a one-size-fits-all basis) rather than the creation of specific offences tailored to deter specific examples of commercially unfair behaviour.       
Prohibited practices

The Regulations apply to commercial practices before, during and after a contract is formed, and introduce a general obligation on traders not to treat consumers unfairly, whether by acts or omissions, or to subject them to aggressive commercial practices such as high pressure selling techniques. Regulation 3 sets out the basic premise:

“(1) Unfair commercial practices are prohibited.

(2) Paragraphs (3) to (5) set out the circumstances when a commercial practice is unfair.

(3) A commercial practice is unfair if –

(a) it contravenes the requirements of professional diligence; and

(b) it materially distorts or is likely to materially distort the economic behaviour of the typical consumer with regard to the product.

(4) In paragraph (3)(b) “to materially distort the economic behaviour of the typical consumer” means appreciably to impair the typical consumer’s ability to make an informed decision thereby causing him to take a transactional decision that he would not have taken otherwise.”
The prosecutor must show that:
· The practice contravenes the requirements of professional diligence;

· It materially distorts or is likely to materially distort;

· The economic behaviour of the typical consumer with regard to the product. 

A practice is unfair if it is a misleading action
 or omission
, is aggressive
 or falls within Schedule 1 to the Regulations, which lists 31 commercial practices which are in themselves prohibited. For a practice to be a breach of any other prohibition, it must have had, or be likely to have, an effect on the typical consumer. 

Professional diligence

Professional diligence is defined in Regulation 2 as:

“…the standard of special skill and care which a trader may reasonably be expected to exercise towards consumers which is commensurate with either –

(a) honest market practice in the trader’s field of activity, or

(b) the general principle of good faith in the trader’s field of activity; or both."
Compliance with relevant Codes of Conduct or DBERR or FTO Guidelines may well be relevant here; but, as always, compliance will not always be necessary, or sufficient, for a trader to be found to have been professionally diligent. The very vagueness of the concept is potentially a trap for the unwary; where a trader follows a practice which he himself considers to accord with standard professional practice, but which a court considers not to have accorded with honest market practice, he will be guilty of an offence. It is to be hoped that prosecutors will bring proceedings only in the clearest of cases; but it is thought that the meaning of this subsection will prove to be analogous to the definition of an elephant: you can’t describe it, but you know a dishonest practice when you see it. 
Misleading actions and omissions

An action is misleading if it contains false information or if it, or its overall presentation, in any way deceives or is likely to deceive the typical consumer, even if the information is factually correct; and if it causes or is likely to cause the typical consumer to take a transactional decision he would not otherwise have taken. The information in question must relate to a number of listed matters
, including the main characteristics of the product, the price or the manner in which the price is calculated, and the consumer’s rights or the risks he may face. The main characteristics of the produce include the benefits, fitness for purpose and specification of the product
.

Clearly the Regulations are intended to catch the Yugotours situation, in which a photograph is misleading in that the typical consumer is likely to draw the conclusion that the subject of the photograph has a relevance to the holiday advertised. It is no excuse that the information provided is factually correct; the context may render it misleading because, although the picture is indeed of a schooner, such a vessel is not to be used for the holiday in question. 
The Code of Practice for Traders on Price Indications provides guidance as regards the information to be provided to consumers regarding pricing. The Code is currently being rewritten to reflect the requirements of the Regulations, and it is anticipated that a revised Code will be made available shortly after the Regulations come into force. Compliance with the Code is likely to be accepted as good evidence that the information given is not misleading (or at least to assist in any defence of due diligence under Regulation 17 – of which more in chapter 13). 

An omission is misleading if, in context, it omits or hides material information or provides such information in a manner which is unclear, unintelligible, ambiguous or untimely, and as a result causes or is likely to cause the typical consumer to take a transactional decision he would not otherwise have taken
. Information is material if it is required, for example, by the PTR 1992, or if it relates to the main characteristics of the product. A good example is that of low cost air fares, which are commonly advertised exclusive of taxes. Even if the small print at the bottom of the advertisement warns consumers that the price quoted is exclusive of duty, it is suggested that such an advertisement would fall foul of the Regulations; the incidence and amount of chargeable taxes is material information, the omission of which might cause a typical consumer to decide to purchase a flight he might not otherwise have bought. 

Aggressive practices

A commercial practice is aggressive if it either significantly impairs or is likely to significantly impair the typical consumer’s freedom of choice or conduct in relation to the product concerned through the use of harassment, coercion or undue influence, and either causes or is likely to cause the consumer to take a transactional decision he would not otherwise have taken. It is hoped that such practices are unusual in a travel context; but high-pressure sales techniques will be caught by the provision. 

Schedule 1 prohibited practices

The list of 31 prohibited practices which are in all circumstances deemed unfair contains a number which are of interest to the industry, including:
(1) Claiming to be a signatory to a code of conduct when the trader is not;

(5) Making an invitation to purchase products at a specified price without disclosing the existence of any reasonable grounds the trader may have for believing that he will not be able to offer for supply, or to procure another trader to supply, those products or equivalent products at that price for a period that is, and in quantities that are, reasonable having regard to the product, the scale of advertising of the product and the price offered (bait advertising);

(7) Falsely stating that a product will only be available for a very limited time, or that it will only be available on particular terms for a very limited time, in order to elicit an immediate decision and deprive consumers of sufficient opportunity or time to make an informed choice;

(10) Presenting rights given to consumers in law as a distinctive feature of the trader’s offer;

(11) Using editorial content in the media to promote a product where a trader has paid for the promotion without making that clear in the content or by images or sounds clearly identifiable by the consumer (advertorials).

With regard to category (5) of the prohibited practices, it is noteworthy that the concept of an “invitation to purchase” is not the same as the common law “invitation to treat”. The phrase encompasses communications which provide enough information to enable a consumer to make a purchase, so that, for example, advertisements which do not specify price are not invitations to purchase for these purposes. Conversely, pages on a website or advertisements in a newspaper which allow consumers to fill out a booking form will amount to invitations to purchase. 

Category (7) is a particular danger; it is an offence to place pressure on a consumer by falsely overstating the limited availability of a product, and retailers must be careful not to fall foul of Schedule 1 in attempting to secure immediate bookings, rather than allowing customers to walk away and consider their options before booking. On the other hand, few customers would thank a travel agent for failing to warn them that the last few low-cost packages available might be snapped up before they made up their minds to book. Once again, because of the breadth of the Regulations the trader is left to walk a tight-rope, and to rely on the prosecuting authorities to take a sensible approach to prosecuting these offences. 
Offences under the Regulations

It is an offence knowingly or recklessly to engage in a commercial practice which contravenes the requirements of professional diligence and either materially distorts or is likely to materially distort the economic behaviour of the typical consumer with regard to the product
. Further offences relate to engaging in misleading actions
, misleading omissions
, aggressive commercial practices
, and the prohibited practices contained within Schedule 1
. All offences, with the exception of contravention of the general prohibition on unfair practice, are strict liability offences.  In respect of the general prohibition, it is suggested that the wider definitions of knowledge and recklessness set out above are likely to be applied in this context, in the light of the rationale behind the Regulations, namely to maximise consumer protection.   

Offences will be triable either way and will attract fines (with the maximum fine set at £5,000 at time of writing) and/or terms of imprisonment of up to two years.
 Prosecutions must be brought within three years of the date of the offence or within one year of the prosecutor discovering the offence, whichever is earlier
.

The Regulations provide enforcement authorities with draconian powers to investigate compliance, including the power to make test purchases
 and to enter premises with
 and without
 a warrant.

General observations

The Regulations are so widely drawn that they are likely to render most other regulatory crimes in this area otiose. In particular, all information provided to consumers must be entirely accurate, and must include all relevant matters. The brochure advertising a luxurious five star hotel, for example, must also inform holidaymakers that the premises is next door to a noisy building site, if the tour operator is not to risk prosecution under Regulation 6. Increased openness will also be necessary in relation to pricing, particularly in respect of air fares; advertisements for flights notoriously often quote fares exclusive of tax and other duties, but under Regulation 6 such ambiguity will cease to be lawful. 

It is suggested that all potentially misleading actions and omissions are likely to be found likely to affect the behaviour of the typical consumer; if it were not likely to do so, the court will reason, why would the trader have found it worthwhile to mislead the consumer? And it is worth noting that the characteristics to be attributed to the typical consumer are a moveable feast. To take an obvious example, the type of consumer likely to venture on a Club 18–30 holiday might be very different to the type of consumer likely to be interested in a Saga cruise. The information to be provided to each category of consumer will therefore be different according to their anticipated needs. Further, some consumers will require more information than others, for example those with disabilities or with particular dietary requirements. Misleading information regarding the width of doorways or the food likely to be served in the hotel restaurant, respectively, might not have an affect on most consumers, but might well cause a typical disabled consumer or a typical consumer with religious convictions to alter his or her decision on whether to book the holiday.  

Again, how this issue will fall to be decided once the Regulations come into force is anyone’s guess: and a degree of age, gender, religious and even racial stereotyping is likely to creep into the analysis. It is suggested that magistrates and judges take particular care in describing, for example, the ‘typical’ consumer of cruises, or the ‘typical’ Muslim consumer in the context of Haj pilgrimage packages. Those in the industry will be aware that it is rare that a holidaymaker turns out to be entirely ‘typical’.

The Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 

This is due to come into force in April 2008, abolishes the common law offence of corporate manslaughter
 and replaces it with a statute-based offence, triable by indictment only and only with the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions. The impact of an offence of corporate killing has been the subject of almost frenzied concern in the travel industry for some years given the potential that exists in the provision of holidays for fatal accidents – whether on an individual or multiple basis.

Territorial Limitation
The concerns that have been expressed are largely allayed by the territorial limitations on the application of the offence of corporate manslaughter. Section 28 of the Act provides that section 1 of the Act (i.e. the offence of corporate manslaughter) only applies if the harm resulting in death was sustained in the UK, its territorial waters or in a number of other specifically identified circumstances such as on an off-shore installation. This territorial limitation is of the utmost significance for the travel industry. Fatalities in hotel fires or coach crashes abroad will not give rise to a charge under the new Act because the harm resulting in the death or deaths will not have been sustained in the UK. 
Under s.1 of the Act:

“(1) An organisation to which this section applies is guilty of an offence if the way in which its activities are managed or organised— 

(a) causes a person’s death, and 

(b) amounts to a gross breach of a relevant duty of care owed by the organisation to the deceased. 

(2) The organisations to which this section applies are— 

(a) a corporation; 

(b) a department or other body listed in Schedule 1; 

(c) a police force; 

(d) a partnership, or a trade union or employers' association, that is an employer. 

(3) An organisation is guilty of an offence under this section only if the way in which its activities are managed or organised by its senior management is a substantial element in the breach referred to in subsection (1).”

It is clear, then, that the organisation must have breached its duty of care in a manner which is not only “gross” but causative of the death of the deceased. This might be proven in a drowning case in circumstances in which a property audit was so grossly negligently performed that a swimming pool was not identified as being hazardous; but only if, had the audit been properly performed, the pool would have been closed. Otherwise the breach of duty could not be said to have caused the death
. 

Section 2 defines “relevant duty of care” as follows:

(1) A “relevant duty of care”, in relation to an organisation, means any of the following duties owed by it under the law of negligence— 

(a) a duty owed to its employees or to other persons working for the organisation or performing services for it; 

(b) a duty owed as occupier of premises; 

(c) a duty owed in connection with— 

(i) the supply by the organisation of goods or services (whether for consideration or not), 

(ii) the carrying on by the organisation of any construction or maintenance operations, 

(iii) the carrying on by the organisation of any other activity on a commercial basis, or 

(iv) the use or keeping by the organisation of any plant, vehicle or other thing; 

(d) a duty owed to a person who, by reason of being a person within subsection (2), is someone for whose safety the organisation is responsible… 

(4) A reference in subsection (1) to a duty owed under the law of negligence includes a reference to a duty that would be owed under the law of negligence but for any statutory provision under which liability is imposed in place of liability under that law. 

(5) For the purposes of this Act, whether a particular organisation owes a duty of care to a particular individual is a question of law. 

The judge must make any findings of fact necessary to decide that question.

(6) For the purposes of this Act there is to be disregarded— 

(a) any rule of the common law that has the effect of preventing a duty of care from being owed by one person to another by reason of the fact that they are jointly engaged in unlawful conduct; 

(b) any such rule that has the effect of preventing a duty of care from being owed to a person by reason of his acceptance of a risk of harm.”
For the most part, then, tour operators (and, in certain circumstances, retailers) will owe a relevant duty of care to holidaymakers in respect of the constituent elements of the holiday. Those tour operators supplying “extreme” or adventure holidays should beware: this is so even where the holidaymaker has accepted a risk of harm, although the prosecutor would still have to show a causative instance of gross negligence. 

Section 8 provides guidance as to the issue of whether or not the organisation has been guilty of a gross breach of duty:

(1) This section applies where— 

(a) it is established that an organisation owed a relevant duty of care to a person, and 

(b) it falls to the jury to decide whether there was a gross breach of that duty. 

(2) The jury must consider whether the evidence shows that the organisation failed to comply with any health and safety legislation that relates to the alleged breach, and if so— 

(a) how serious that failure was; 

(b) how much of a risk of death it posed. 

(3) The jury may also— 

(a) consider the extent to which the evidence shows that there were attitudes, policies, systems or accepted practices within the organisation that were likely to have encouraged any such failure as is mentioned in subsection (2), or to have produced tolerance of it; 

(b) have regard to any health and safety guidance that relates to the alleged breach. 

(4) This section does not prevent the jury from having regard to any other matters they consider relevant. 

(5) In this section “health and safety guidance” means any code, guidance, manual or similar publication that is concerned with health and safety matters and is made or issued (under a statutory provision or otherwise) by an authority responsible for the enforcement of any health and safety legislation.”
It seems, then, that in considering whether a corporate body is guilty of manslaughter the jury must take into account the degree to which the body is guilty of institutionalised lack of care. It is suggested that if a defendant is able to show that at the relevant time it had in place a system of checks, including health and safety audits, and that those checks were implemented properly, it should escape conviction.

It remains to be seen whether the prosecuting authorities obtain any more convictions under the new legislation than they did under the common law offence, under which only two corporations were ever successfully prosecuted. 
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